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PART I 

INTRODUCTION 

In January 1880 Indian Reserve Commissioner G.M. Sproat allocated more 
than 1000 acres of Cormorant Island as a reserve for the 'Nmgis First 
Nation. This allocation was disallowed two years later by the Chief Commis- 
sioner of Lands and Works for the province of British Columbia, one of the 
grounds being that the entire island had been leased since 1870 to a group 
of white settlers. On October 20, 1884, Indian Reserve Commissioner Peter 
O'ReiUy, Mr. Sproat's successor, reallocated two reserves on Cormorant 
Island. These reserves, however, ultimately encompassed only 48.12 acres. 

In September 1987 the 'Nmgis First Nation submitted a specific claim to 
the Ofice of Native Claims. It contended, among other things, that Canada 
had acted improperly in failing to refer the disallowance of Mr. Sproat's allo- 
cation to a judge of the British Columbia Supreme Court, as was provided in 
the Order in Council and in related documentation appointing Mr. Sproat as 
Indian Reserve Commissioner. Canada rejected the claim in April 19%. As a 
result, the 'Nmgis First Nation turned to the Indian Claims Commission "for 
appeal purposes." In March 1995 the Commission agreed to conduct an 
inquiry into the rejection of the Cormorant Island claim. 

The Indian Claims Commission was established in 1991 to assist First 
Nations and Canada in the negotiation and fair resolution of specific claims. 
Our task in this inquiry was to examine the claim of the 'Nmgis First Nation 
and to assess its validity on the basis of Canada's Specific Claims Policy. 

This report sets out our findings and recommendations to the First Nation 
and to Canada. The structure of the report is as follows: Part I1 outtines the 
mandate of the Commission; Part III summarizes the inquiry and the histori- 
cal background; Part N sets out the issues; Part V contains our analysis of 
the facts and the law; and Part VI states our findings and recommendation. 

The Commission has been assisted in its task by legal counsel for the First 
Nation and for Canada, who provided detailed written and oral submissions 
on the evidence and the law. We wish to thank them for their careful 
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preparation of the arguments and materials. We also wish to express our 
gratitude to the people of the 'Narngis First Nation for the warm welcome 
extended to us and our staff during our visit to their community and for the 
facilities they made available for the conduct of this inquiry. 
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PART I1 

THE COMMISSION MANDATE AND SPECIFIC C W M S  POLICY 

THE MANDATE OF THE INDIAN C W M S  COMMISSION 

The mandate of this Commission to conduct inquiries pursuant to the 
Inquiries Act is set out in a commission issued under the Great Seal to the 
Commissioners on September 1, 1992. It directs: 

that our Commissioners on the basis of Canada's SpeciGc Claims Policy. . . by consid- 
ering only those matters at issue when the dispute was initially submitted to the Com- 
mission, inquire into and report on: 

a) whether a claimant has a valid claim for negotiation under the Policy where that 
claim has already been rejected by the Minister; ilnd 

b) which compensation criteria apply in negotkdtion of a settlement, where a claim 
ant disagrees with the Minister's determination on the applicable criteria.' 

This is an inquity into a claim that has been rejected. The claimant is the 
'Nmgis First Nation, formerly known as the Nimpkish Indian Band. A brief 
synopsis of how the claim came before h s  Commission follows. 

On September 3, 1987, Chief Pat Alfred submitted band council resolu- 
tions for four specific claims to the Office of Native Claims. One of these 
claims related to the Cormorant Island Reserve.' On April 5, 1994, Nola 
Landucci, Specific Claims Negotiator, Indian and Northern Affairs Canada, 
wrote to Stan Ashcroft, legal counsel for the claimant, and conErmed that 
Canada had rejected the Cormorant Island claim: 

I Commission isrued Seplember 1, 1992, pursuant la Order in Council PC 192-1730, July 27. 1992, amendlng 
the Commission issued to Chief Commissioner H v r y  S. LaForme on August 12. 1991, pursuant to Order in 
Council PC 1991.1329, July 15. 1991. 

2 Chief PI rufred, Nimpkish Band Council, to Manfred G in .  Negokmr. Specific Claims. Office d Nalive Claims, 
September 3. 1987 (ICC Documents, p. 308). 
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It would be accurate to advise your client that Canada's analysis of this matter does 
not support negotiatim of any probable breach of obligation under the SpeciGc 
Claims policy. The claim can therefore accurately be described as rejected.? 

By letter dated November 4, 1994, Mr. Ashcroft, on the instructions of the 
Chief and Council of the 'Nmgis First Nation, submitted the Cormorant 
Island claim to the Indian Claims Commission "for appeal purposes."' A 
planning conference was held on January 31, 1995, followed by the Commis- 
sioners' review of the claim in early March 1995. On March 3, 1995, Daniel 
Bellegarde and James Prentice, Co-Chairs of the Indian Claims Commission, 
wrote to the Chief and Council of the First Nation, to the Honourable Ron 
Irwin, Minister of Indian and Northern Affairs, and to the Honourable Allan 
Rock, Minister of Justice and Attorney General, advising that the Commission- 
ers had agreed to conduct an inquiry into the rejection of the Cormorant 
Island Claim.' 

Under its mandate, the purpose of the Commission in conducting this 
inquiry is to inquire into and report on whether, on the basis of Canada's 
Specific Claims Policy, the 'Namgis First Nation has a valid claim for 
negotiation. 

THE SPECIFIC CLAIMS POLICY 

The Indian Claims Commission is directed to report on the validity of rejected 
claims "on the basis of Canada's Specific Claims Policy." That Policy is set 
forth in a 1982 booklet published by the Department of Indian Affairs entitled 
Outstanding Business: A Native Claims Policy - Specific Claims." Unless 
expressly stated otherwise, references to the Policy in this report are to Out- 
standing Business. 

Scope of the Specific Claims Policy 
Although the Commission is directed to look at the entire Specific Claims 
Policy in its review of rejected claims, legal counsel for Canada concentrated 

3 Nola landucci, Specific Claims Negotiator, Depanment of Indian and Northern A h i n ,  to Stan hrhcroh, h p d  5 ,  
1994 (ICC Daeumenls, p. 413). 

4 Stan H. hshcroh to Kun Fulienon. Chief Legal Counsel, lndian Ohms Commission. November 4. 1994 (ICC iile 
2109-05-1). 

5 Daniel BeUegarde and James Prentice, CoChairs, lo Chief and Council, Nimpkish lndian Band, and lo the 
Minisers ui Indian and Nonhern h8&s and Justice, March 3. 1995 (ICC file 2109-05-1). 

6 Depanment of Indian M&rr and Northern Development ( D m ) ,  Outstanding Bwiness: A ~Valicr Claims 
Policy - Spec@c Chimr (Ottawa: Minister of Supply and Services, 1982) [hereinsher cited as Outstanding 
Bztsinerrl 
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on three passages in particular? First, the opening sentence in Outstanding 
Business: 

The claims referred to in this booklet deal with specific actions and omissions of 
government as they relate to obligations undertaken under treaty, requirements 
spelled out in legislation and responsibilities regarding the management of Indian 
assets." 

Second, the definition of the term "specific claims" on page 19 of the Policy: 

As noted earlier the term "specfic claims" refers to claims made by Indians against 
the federal government which relate to the administration of land and other Indian 
assets and to the fuklhent of Indian treatie~.~ 

Third, the discussion of the concept of "lawful obligation" on page 20: 

The government's policy on specfic claims is that it wiU recogmze claims by Indian 
bands which disclose an outstanding "lawful obligation;' i.e., an obligdtion derived 
from the law on the part of the federal government. 

A lawful obligation may arise in any of the following circumstances: 
i) The non-fuWment of a treaty or agreement between Indians and the Crown. 
ii) A breach of an obligation arising out of the Indian Act or other statutes per- 

raining to Indians and the regulations thereunder. 
iii) A breach of an obligation arising out of government administration of Indian 

funds or other assets. 
iv) An illegal disposition of Indian land.1° 

It is Canada's position that the Cormorant Isl&d claim does not fall within 
the scope of the Specific Claims Policy. We will address this issue in Part V 
below. 

7 Submissions on Behalf of the Governmen1 of Canada. September I I ,  1995, pp. 21-22 
8 Outstanding Business, 3. 
9 Outstanding Businerr, 19. 
l o  Outrfmding Buriness, 20. 
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PART I11 

THE INQUIRY 

In this part of the report, we examine the historical evidence relevant to the 
claim of the 'Nmgis First Nation. Our investigation into this claim included 
the review of two volumes of documents submitted by the parties, as well as 
numerous exhibits, including two large binders of materials relating to the 
West Coast Indian reserve allotments of Commissioner Sproat." In addition, 
the Commission held an inforrnation-gathering session in the community of 
Alert Bay, British Columbia, on April 20 and 21, 1995, where we heard evi- 
dence from six witnesses. On September 20 and 21, 1995, legal counsel for 
both parties made oral submissions in Vancouver, British Columbia. Details 
of the inquiry process and the formal record of documents and testimony 
considered in this inquiry can be found in Appendix A. 

THE CLAIMANT AND THE CLAIM AREA 

The people of the 'Nmgis First Nation are part of the KwakwMwakw, 
which is the Kwak'wala language group.12 They have been referred to by sev- 
eral names historically, including Nimkeesh, Nimkish, and Nimpkish. Their 
traditional territory is on the northeastern coast of Vancouver Island, 
bounded by the watershed of the Nimpkish River and the adjacent marine 
environment. 

This particular claim relates to a reserve allocation on Cormorant Island, 
which is located in the Queen Charlotte Strait, between Vancouver Island and 
the mainland. In the language of the 'Nmgis First Nation, Cormorant Island 
is called "Yds," which means "safe haveo."l3 

11 Blake Ems. "Ciben Malcolm Sproal; hdian Resetve Commissioner for British Columbia, West Coat hdhn 
Reserve Momen& (1879-SO),'' vols I md 2, July 19, 1995 (ICC Oihibil 2). 

I 2  Roberl Calois, K L U O ~ B ~ B ' W ~ ~  Selllmenlr, 1775-1920 A Gwgmphical Analysis md Cazetleer (Vmcou- 
ver: D C  Prers. 1994). 14 

I3 ICC Transcript Apnl 21, 1995, p. 2 (Cmrge Cook). 
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Historical Background 
One of the primary allegations in this claim is that Canada failed to adhere to 
the terms of the Order in Council appointing Mr. Sproat as Indian Reserve 
Commissioner. Therefore, by way of background, we will Erst briefly review 
the Orders in Council and some of the other salient documents relating to the 
creation and operation of the various Indian Reserve Commissions in the 
1870s and 1880s. We will then discuss the specific circumstances surround- 
ing the reserve allocation on Cormorant Island. 

The Indian Reserve Commission 
In 1871 the colony of British Columbia entered the nascent Canadian Confed- 
eration. The British Columbia Terms of Union, 1871, was the document by 
which the colony joined Canada. Article 13 of the Terms of Union specifi- 
cally addressed the matter of Indians and Indian lands: 

13. The charge of the Indians, and the trusteeship and management of the lands 
reserved for their use and benett, shall be assumed by the Dominion Govemment, 
and a policy as liberal as that hitheao pursued by the British Columbia Government 
shall be continued by the Dominion Government after the Union. 

To carry out such policy, tracts of land of such extent as it has hitherto been the 
practice of the British Columbia Government to appropriate for that purpose, shall 
from time to time be conveyed by the Local Government to the DOmiluon Government 
in trust for the use and benefit of the Indians on application of the Dominion Govern- 
ment; and in case of disagreement between the two Governments respecting the quan- 
tity of such tracts of land to be so granted, the mager shall be referred for the 
decision of the Secretary of State for the Colonies." 

In the years following British Columbia's entry into Confederation, the 
Indian land question would prove to be one of the more contentious issues 
between the two levels of government, as each sought to impose its view of 
Indian land requirements on the other. In 1875, in response to a proposal 
put forward by W i a m  Duncan, a missionary at Metlakatla, the two govern- 
ments agreed to the formation of a joint commission to resolve the problem 
of reserve allotment in British C~lumbia.'~ 

In a memorandum of November 5, 1875, R.W. Scott, Acting Minister of the 
Interior, recommended: 



1. That with a view to the speedy and Gnal adjustment of the Indian Reserve ques- 
tion in British Columbia on a satisfactoq basis, the whole matter be referred to three 
Commissioners, one to be appointed by the Government of the Dominion, one by the 
Government of British Columbia, and the third to be named by the Dominion and the 
Local Governments jointly. 

2. That the said Commissioners shall as soon as practicable after their appoint- 
ment meet at Victoria and make arrangements to visit, with all convenient speed, in 
such order as may be found desirable, each Indian Nation (meaning by Nation all 
Indian tribes speaking the same language) in British Columbia and after full enquiq 
on the spot, into all matters affecting the question, to Gx and determine for each 
Nation separately the number, extent and locality of the Reserve or Reserves to be 
allowed to it. 

3. That in determining the extent of the Reserves to be granted to the Indians of 
British Columbia no basis of acreage be Gxed for the Indians of that Province as a 
whole, but that each Nation of Indians of the same language be dealt with separately. 

4. That the Commissioners shall be guided generally by the spirit of the terms of 
Union between the Dominion and the Local Governments, which contemplates a "lib- 
eral policy" being pursued toward. the Indians; and in the case of each parricular 
Nation regard shall be had to the habits, wants and pursuits of such Nation, to the 
amount of territory available in the region occupied by them, and to the claims of the 
white settlers. . . .I6 

Acting upon Scott's recommendations, the dominion government authorized 
the creation of the Joint Reserve Commission by Order in Council 1033, 
dated November 10, 1 8 7 5 . "  On January 6 ,  1876, the provincial government, 
concurring with the creation of the Joint Reserve Commission, issued a recip- 
rocal Order in C~uncil . '~  The commission was composed of A.C. Anderson, 
representing Canada, A. McKinlay, representing British Columbia, and G.M. 
Sproat, who served as Joint Commissioner.'9 

Unfortunately, the Joint Reserve Commission was a short-lived venture, for 
the province argued that it was too expensive and too time consuming. In 
January 1877 A.C. Elliott, Provincial Secretary for British Columbia, wrote to 
the Minister of the Interior suggesting that the activities of the Joint Reserve 
Commission be restricted: 

I should recommend that, whilst the Commission as now constituted be allowed for 
the present to persevere, their labours should be entirely conhed to places where 

16 Memorandum ol R.W. Scott. Acting Minister of the Interior. November 5 .  1875 (ICC Dacumenu. DD. 42-48). 
17 Federal Order in Council PC 103i November 10. 1875 (ICC ~mumenl;, p. 4d. 
18 Provincid Order in Councll No. 1138, J a n u q  6 ,  1876 (ICC Dmumenct, pp. 50-51). 
19 Robin Fisher. Conlac1 and Conflict. Zd ed. (Vancouver: UBC Press. 1992). 189. 



the Whites and Natives are living in close proximity, and to those localities where the 
Indians are dissatisEed with the area of land of which they now hold posse~sion.'~ 

He also suggested that the commission, which he described as "elaborate 
and cumbersome," be dissolved towards the close of the then current year. 
Mr. Elliott recommended that, in the future, the Superintendents of Indian 
Affairs in their respective localities be responsible for apportioning all the 
lands remaining unallotted or unreserved. He continued: 

The lands thus apportioned should however be subject to the approval of the Chief 
Commissioner of Lands and Works, acting on behalf of the Provincial Government 
before being finally Gazetted as Indian Reserves. In the event of any differences 
existing between the Chief Commissioner of Lands and Works and the Superintendents 
of Indian Mairs as to size o r  extent nt lands to be allotted to any Indian Tribe, the 
matter could be referred to one of the Judges of the Supreme Court, whose decision 
should be 

Elliott's letter was followed by a provincial Order in Council, dated January 
30, 1877, adopting his re corn mend at ion^.^" 

Initially, Canada agreed to Elliott's suggested arrangement and on Febru- 
ary 23, 1877, it passed an Order in Council endorsing his proposals. The 
federal Order in Council reads, in part: 

[Alfter the dissolution of the Commission the Superintendents of Indian Affairs in 
their respective localities should apportion as soon as practicable all the lands 
remaining unalloned o r  unreserved by the present Commission, such apportionment 
to be subject to the approval of the Chief Commissioner of Lands and Works of British 
Columbia acting on behalf of the Local Government, and in the event of any Merence 
between the Superintendents and the Chief Commissioner as to the extent or locality 
of the lands to be allotted, the matter might be referred lo one of the Judges of the 
Supreme Court of that Province whose decision should be Bnal.23 

British Columbia responded with another Order in Council on February 4, 
1878: 

32 kovineid ~ r d e r i n ~ o u n c i l ,  Jmuw 30, 1877 (ICC Documenls, p, 56). 
23 Federal Order in Council, Februuy 23. 1877 (ICC Doeurnen6, pp 59-61) 
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[TI he Indian Iand Commissioners. . . have nearly completed their season's work and 
as the Commission is very expensive and under evisting circumstances unnecessary he 
[the Provincial Secretarylrecommends that the following telegram be transmitted by 
His Excellency the Lieutenant Governor to the Secretary of State for the Dominion of 
Canada. 

"Government wish arrangement approved by order Privy Council 23d February last 
respecting Indian Land Commissioners to take effect now."" 

It appears, however, that David Mills, Minister of the Interior, was reluc- 
tant to endorse Elliott's proposals and, instead, lobbied to have Commis- 
sioner Sproat retained as sole Commissioner. In a memorandum to the Privy 
Council Office on March 7, 1878, he stressed the good work that had been 
done by the Joint Commission and concluded by recommending that Com- 
missioner Sproat be appointed to allot Indian reserves in British Columbia: 

It is therefore recommended that instead of assigning the task of primatiy allotting 
the Reserves to the Indian Superintendents in their respective Superintendencies, as 
proposed by that [Federal] Order in Council of the Z3rd February 1877, the present 
Joint Commissioner Mr. Sproat be appointed to discharge that important duty subject 
to the approval of the Commissioner of Lands and Works of British Columbia and in 
the event of any difference between the Commissioner and Mr. Sproat the matter to be 
referred to one of the Judges of the Supreme Court as provided by that Order in 
Council." 

The dominion government accepted Mr. Mills's recommendation, and Mr. 
Sproat was appointed sole Indian Reserve Commissioner by dominion Order 
in Council 170, dated March 8, 1878. The Order in Council reads as follows: 

The Committee have had before them the Memorandum hereunto annexed from the 
Hon. the Minister of the Interior having reference to the proceedings of the Joint 
Commission of the Goverment of the Dominion and that of British Columbia for the 
Settlement of the Indian Land di5lculties in that Province and to the contemplated 
reconstruction of that Commission in pursuance of the terms of the Order in Council 
of the 23"' February 1877, and they submit their concurrence in the recommenda- 
tions contained in the said Memorandum & advise that they be approved and acted 
on.16 

!. P r ~ l t n c l l l  ordrr in ti.c.nn1. F:oru%n , IS-& l ir .  Ihrt~mcni. pp 0! 63 
!; \IrmoranJum oi Cuea hllj. $Im~,tcr d the Intcnor. \furl> -. Ia'h 1K1: 1luc.menu. pp 6 1  ' 5 ,  
!o R.lrrd OrJur ~n Culmid. \larcl 8. Is'a ,!LC Uucumcnli p '. 
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A week later the Minister of the Interior informed the Lieutenant Governor of 
British Columbia of the dominion government's decision, and requested that 
British Columbia "carry out order of February seventy seven respecting 
Indian Comm. substituting Sproat for Indian S ~ p t . " ~ ~  

By letter dated March 18, 1878, Commissioner Sproat advised the Super- 
intendent General of Indian Affairs that on the 16th he had been "informed 
by His Honour the Lieutenant Governor of my appointment to the office pro- 
posed to be held by the Indian Superintendents according to the Canadian 
Order in Council 23rd Feby 1877."28 Thus, while Mr. Sproat's appointment 
seems to have been accepted by both levels of government, the federal Order 
in Council of March 8, 1878, was not immediately reciprocated by a provin- 
cial order. This gap left questions regarding the range and scope of Mr. 
Sproat's authority, an issue that would dominate correspondence among Mr. 
Sproat and the two levels of government throughout the remainder of 1878 
and into 1879. 

In a second letter to the Superintendent General on March 18, 1878, Mr. 
Sproat raised the matter of expenses: 

I have toby  had an intewiew with the Hon. Mr. EUiott, and, finding that his impres- 
sion was that under the Order in Council of Feby 23 1877 -which now governs my 
action - the Provincial Government would be at no expense, I said that I was not at 
present prepared to assent to that view, though no doubt further discussion might 
result in an agreement as to procedure under the order. 

The approval of the Chief Commissioner of lands & Works mentioned in said 
order must, I think, be given on the spot at the time; otherwise the effect will be that I 
shall be idle in my tent for more than half my time, which means that at each resetve, 
the Dominion Government will be fined from $500 to $1000, being the expense of the 
Colnmissioner while waiting for an answer from Victoria. . . . 

Nothing is said in the Order in Council as to who is to pay the Judge of the 
Supreme Court, who might be called in. It is not likely that such an officer could be 
got to do the work, and if he did, the cost would be so much that it should be clearly 
understood who is to pay it. . . .'9 

He also added this thoughts regarding his authority: "I am not without a hope 
that I can arrange the matter with the Provincial Government in some such 
way as shall leave the matter virtually in my hands, with an apparent control 

27 David M&, Minister d t h e  Lnlerior, to hN. Richards, lieutenant Governor of British Columbia. March 15, 1878 
(ICC Exhibit 5). 

28 G.M. Sproat to Supecintendenl Genenl  of Indian AEairs, March 18. 1878 (ICC Documens. pp. 75-78), 
29 G.M. Sproat to Supenamdent Gened ol Indian Aflairs, Mach 18, 1878 (ICC Documentr. pp. 79-84). 
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exercised by the Land Office to satisfy the sentiment of the public in the 
P~ovince."3~ 

On March 25, 1878, the Superintendent General of Indian Affairs informed 
Mr. Sproat that any actions he might take as Indian Reserve Commissioner 
were subject to approval by the Chief Commissioner of Lands and W0rks.3~ 
Specifically, he outlined the following conditions under which Mr. Sproat was 
to operate: 

. . . subject as provided by that Order [Order in Council of February 23, 18771 to the 
approval of the Commissioner of lands & Works of British Columbia and with the 
right of reference in case of differences between the Commissioner and yourself to 
one of the Judges of the Supreme Court of that Province. . . . 

You will of course understand that you are not to take any action under thh letter 
until notitled that the local Government has approved of the scheme submitted to 
their consideration by the Government of the Dominion.)' 

In a subsequent effort to clarify Mr. Sproat's authority, the Minister of the 
Interior telegraphed the Lieutenant Governor of British Columbia in April 
1878 and asked if the provincial government would "regard Sproat's allot- 
ment of Reserves as final with an apparent control by the Land Offi~e."~' The 
Minister went on to explain that if this arrangement was acceptable to the 
province, Canada would pay "all expenses"; if it was not acceptable, "Com- 
missioner of Lands and Works must accompany Sproat at expense of Prov- 
ince, and in case Referee is required his expenses must be shared equally."34 
By Order in Council dated April 17, 1878, the province responded to the 
Minister's offer: 

Government are not prepared to regard settlement of Reselves made by Sproat as 
h a l ,  but will not interfere with his action except in extreme cases. The Dominion 
Government to pay all expenses of Sproat and half the cost of referee. An~wer.~'  

Lieutenant Governor Richards relayed the province's position to Ottawa on 
April 18, 1878.36 

30 G.M. Spraat to Superintendent G e n e d  of Indian AK&, March 18, 1878 (ICC Documenrr, pp. 79-84). 
31 Superintendent General of lndian h s  to G.M. Spraat, March 25, 1878 (ICC Documentr, pp. 85-89). 
32 Superintendent General of lndian Affairs to G.M. Sproat, March 25, 1878 (ICC Documents, pp. 85-89). 
33 D. Mis to Lieutenant Governor Richards, April 4, 1878 (ICC Documents, pp. 90-91), 
34 D. Mills to Lieutenant Governor Richards, April 4, 1878 (ICC Dwumem. pp. 90-91). 
35 Provincial Order in Council, A p d  17. 1878 (ICC Dacumenls. pp. 92-93), 
36 A.N. Ftichards, Lieutenant Governor of Briurh Columbia, to R.W. Scon. Secrelaq of State, April 18, 1878 (ICC 

Fxhibit 2, voi. I, tab 7). 



The dominion government accepted the province's proposal in a letter 
dated April 24, 1878.3' Two days later, the province passed Order in Council 
615 relating to the finality of Mr. Sproat's decisions in the Yale district: "all 
Mr. Sproat's decisions regarding Indian land questions in the Electoral Dis- 
trict of Yale be regarded as final, excepting those of which he shall have 
received notice from either Mr. Teague or Mr. Usher, Government Agents, to 
lay aver."38 

During the months that followed, Mr. Sproat pressed to have this type of 
formal authority extended beyond the District of Yale. On April 29, 1878, he 
wrote to the Superintendent General of Indian Affairs arguing that the Indian 
Reserve Commissioner should be independent of provincial control. In com- 
menting on the situation in British Columbia, Mr. Sproat wrote: 

[ I l t  is admittedly ditficult to reconcile the necessities of a Provincial Government 
dependent upon parliamentary support, and the requirements of a single Commis- 
sioner undertaking this land adjustment, but after considering the whole question 
fully, 1 made up my mind that the occasion required that my decisions should be Enal 
in all cases with the exception of those which the Government Agents in the districts 
might, on examination, request me to lay over for the opinion of the Provl 
Government. 

I stated this view to the Provincial Government, and after tedious negotiations, 
thought that they would agree to it, but it appears that without notjfying me they sent a 
telegram to you stating that "they would not interfere with my actions except in 
extreme cases." I have since been told by Mr. EUion that your Government have 
approved this arrangement, but I have not seen your telegram. . . . 

After some delay I have today obtained the foUowing copy of a Repon of a Com- 
mittee of the Hon. The Executive Council approved by His Excellency The Lieut. 
Governor on the 26 Apl 1878 . .  . [here foUows the contents of Provincial Order in 
Council 6151. 

The electonl district of Yale is nearly the whole southern interior of the mainland. 
When 1 go to other districts, my powers must be similarly extended. . . . 
The limitation of the Prov GoM interference to "extreme cases" would mean noth- 

ing. These matters have to be looked at practically. A letter to fie Land office from a 
settler would, with any Provl Govt, transform any case into an "extreme case."j9 

Whde Mr. Sproat got on with the business of being Commissioner, officials 
from the Department of Indian Affairs continued to seek ways of resolving the 
land question in British Columbia. On January 20, 1879, I.W. Powell, Indian 

37 R.W. Scoa lo Lleulenmt Governor oi British Columbia, April 24. 1878 (ICC Documents, p. 9j). 
38 Provincial Order in Council, No. 615, April 26. 1878 (ICC Documenls. pp. 96-97). Cormorant island b not in 

the Yale dirtnct. 
39 G.M. Sproat lo Superintendent General of Indian AEUn, Apnl 29, 1878 (ICC Documents, pp. 99-110). 
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Superintendent for British Columbia, wrote to the Superintendent General of 
Indian Affairs about the growth of the fisheries on the coast. Mr. Powell 
explained that this situation could lead to friction between natives and whites, 
and he suggested that the land and fishing rights of the coast tribes be 
"settled and defined as quickly as possible."40 He noted that if the present 
Reserve Commissioner continued in the interior, it would be two to three 
years before he could go to the coast, a delay that he considered to be 
"unfortunate and inadvisable." Mr. Powell felt it necessary that "some quali- 
fied Commissioner. . . undertake the settlement of the Reserves for the Coast 
Indians during the coming season."41 

In the meantime, Commissioner Sproat continued to draw criticism from 
the settler society. On February 19, 1879, he wrote to the Chief Commis- 
sioner of Lands and Works in an attempt to answer these charges: 

Having seen in the newspapers a notice of questions to be put to you by Mr. Bennett, 
from which it might be inferred that the Indian Reserve Commission has assigned for 
Indian purposes lands held legally by settlers, I beg respectfully to express a wish that, 
when it may be in your power, you will have the goodness to cause me to be informed 
of the particulars of any case to which Mr. Bennett refers, so that ;u~y mistake may be 
promptly rectified. 

The Reserve Com" has no power to do what Mr. Bennett complains of, and no 
attempt has been made to exercise powers which the Commission does not possess. 

Though the total cost of the Commission is paid by the Dominion Government, 
fully one half of the whole time of the Com" is spent examining and protecting not 
only the rights of white settlers, but the customaly advantages and fair expectations of 
their position as settlers. 

When doubtful questions arise, o r  questions of extreme difficulty, such as are 
some of those which now have for a long time been before the Provincial Govern- 
ment, it is the practice to refer them to both Governments for an authoritative 
opini~n.'~ 

When the province continued to be evasive about the scope of his author- 
ity, Commissioner Sproat again wrote to the Chief Commissioner of Lands 
and Works on March 17, 1879: 

I have the honour to request that, in pursuance of the existing a m g e m e n t  between 
the two governments embodied in the Order in Council under which I, lately, have 
been acting. . .you will cause me to be furnished with the requisite authority from 

40 I.W. Powell to Superintendent General of Indian m n ,  January 20. 1879 (ICC Dacumenct, pp. 114-16). 
4 1  I.W. PaweU to Superintendent General of Indian &IS. January 20. 1879 (ICC Documents, pp. 114-16). 
42 G.M. Spoat la the Chief Commissioner of lands and Works, Febmry 19, 1879 (ICC DocurnenU, pp. 117-18). 
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the Provincial Government, so far as they are concerned, for prosecuting the adjust- 
ment of the Indian Land question in the districts not yet e~amined."~ 

While Commissioner Sproat was trying to obtain clarification on the scope 
of his authority from the province, he received further instructions on April 
18, 1879, from the Superintendent General of Indian Affairs "to proceed with 
the allotment of Reserves on the Coast of British Columbia, leaving the 
Reserves for the Indians in the northern portion of the Interior until the 
important question of water for irrigating the same is settled."" As a result, 
Commissioner Sproat wrote to the Chief Commissioner of Lands and Works 
on May 5, 1879, asking that his authority as Indian Reserve Commissioner be 
extended to include the coastal areas of British C~lumbia.~' 

In response to Mr. Sproat's request, the provincial authorities advised him 
that "the Government is not at present able to say whether the suggestion to 
take up the West Coast Reserves is good or not."46 When the Superintendent 
General repeated his request that Mr. Sproat move to the coast,4' the Chief 
Commissioner of Lands and Works corresponded with Commissioner Sproat 
as follows: 

I have examined the Orders in Council Sr correspondence relating to the Indian 
Reserve Commission as at present constituted, and do not Gnd that it is necessary for 
the Provincial Government to [act] by Order in Council when [desirous] of indicating 
the [sections] of the Province to which the labours of the Commission might most 
usefully be directed. 

From the representations recently made by well informed persons, who can hardly 
be classed as alambts, I think it would be very advisable that the Indian reselves in 
the interior, in the vicinity of Clinton and as far North as Soda Creek, should be 
defined before any work on the Coast is undettaken. The Irrigation question offers no 
more embarrassment in the Lillooet or Caribw sections of the Province than was met 
with in Yale or New Westminster.'" 

Commissioner Sproat immediately wrote to the Superintendent General of 
Indian Affairs, apprising him of his correspondence with the province. With 
respect to the matter of his authority he noted: 

43 G.M. Sprwat to the Chief Cammlssioner of Iands and Works, March  17, 1879 (ICC Documents, pp. 119-20). 
44 L. Vankouuhnet. Deoulv Suoerintendent G e n e n l  of Indian AKaim. to C.M. Soroat. A o d  18. 1879 (ICC Fxhibil2, . . .  . 
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45 G.M. Sprozt to the Chief Commissioner of Lands and Works, May 5. 1879 (ICC Documenlr, pp. 121-22). 
46 W.S. Gore, Sulveyor G e n e n l ,  to G.M. Sproal, May 7, 1879 (ICC Documents, p. 123). 
47 Letter oi May 19, 1879, cited in G.M. Spraat la the Chief Commissioner of Lands nnd Works, August 29, 1879 
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48 G I .  Walkem lo G.M. Sproat, May 28. 1879 (ICC Documents, p. 124) 
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You will observe that the Comr. of Lands does not consider that any Provincial Order 
in Council is required to empower me. I presume he considers that as single Commis- 
sioner, succeeding by agreement to the three Commissioners, I have the powers 
which they had by the original agreement between the two govts conrained in the 
proposals sent by the Secy of State to the Lt Governor 15 Dec 1875 . . .'9 

On May 29, 1879, Mr. Sproat sent a confirming letter to the Chief Com- 
missioner of Lands and Works: 

I have received your letter . . . following my letters of 5 May and 17 March last, and I 
note that my authority, as far as the Prov. Gov. is concerned, is sufficient without the 
Order in Council which I had supposed might have been necessary. . .jO 

Two months later, Mr. Sproat reiterated his understanding of the prov- 
ince's position in a letter to the Deputy Superintendent General of Indian 
Affairs: 

Mr. Walkem's government, on my asking for full powers to enable me to work effec- 
tively in other districts than Yale stated. . . that my powers were ample . . . and no 
further Orders in Council were needed - that is to say I had simply succeeded the 
three Commissioners. My decisions are made on the spot unless I choose to hold 
them over and they are not subject to the approval of the Chief Commissioner of 
lands, and as a consequence there is no referee.'' 

Believing that, in the absence of specific orders stating otherwise, the 
province intended him to continue under the guidelines of the former Joint 
Reserve Commission, Mr. Sproat planned to start working outside ef the inte- 
rior. However, on August 7, 1879, the Chief Commissioner of Lands and 
Works, wary of the imminence of rebellion in the interior, protested Mr. 
Sproat's upcoming visit to the province's coastal areas: 

I am informed that as Indian Commissioner you are about to visit some of the tribes 
of Indians living on the Coast. 1 protest against such a visit as 1 have every reason to 
believe that it would at present be most impolitic, and do more harm than good, and 
on behalf of the Government I must further object to your leaving the Indian land 
question as it affects the Interior in its present unsettled condition.jz 
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In his answer to the Chief Commissioner, Mr. Sproat explained that he 
thought that the Superintendent General's instructions to proceed to the coast 
were reasonable and not "most impolitic," and that in the past six months he 
had had "as urgent messages and reminders sent to [him] from Indians 
on the Coast as from Indians in the I n t e r i ~ r . " ~ ~  He also pointed out that 
the provincial government still had not settled the water question in the 
interior.'* 

Commissioner Sproat was later to confirm for himself the urgency 
of the "messages and reminders" sent from the coastal Indians when he 
began the task of allotting reserves on the coast. On November 11, 1879, he 
wrote to Dr. Powell, Indian Superintendent, from the schooner Thornton 
harboured in Alert Bay. In that letter, he stated: 

I now know the condition and requirements of the Indians from the south of Vancou- 
ver Island to its extreme north, including the Mainland Coast up to Cape Caution, and 
my opinion is the same as that expressed by Mr. VanKoughnet in his official report 
last year, to the effect that in the Coast Superintendency, as in the Fraser Superinten- 
dency, the arrangements ate not suitable to the circumstances. 

This slatement may be made without unkind criticism, but it is a most grave matter 
that the condition of so many Indians within easy reach of Victoria and in the heart of 
the Coast Superintendency should be in the unsatisfactory condition in which they are, 
and which is worse than any group of Indians which came under my emina t ion  in 
the Interior of the Province. . . . 

I have not been in any part of the Province where, under all the circumstances, an 
adjustment of land matters was more necessay . . .j5 

53 G.M. Sprolt la the Chief Commissioner of lands m d  Works. August 29, 1879 (ICC Dacumena, pp. 134-39). 
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A short while after making these observations, Commissioner Sproat sub- 
mitted his resignation as Indian Reserve Commissioner on March 3, 1880.56 
He was succeeded in the post by Peter O'Reilly, a Provincial County Court 
Judge and Stipendiary Magistrate, who was appointed Indian Reserve Com- 
missioner by authority of dominion Order in Council 1334, dated July 19, 
1880.57 

Cormorant Island and the Huson Lease 
On his trip along the coast, Commissioner Sproat met with a variety of 
aboriginal nations, including the "Nimkish of Cormorant Island. Several 
years before Mr. Sproat arrived at Cormorant Island, a group of white set- 
tlers, A.W. Huson, E.T. Huson, U. Nelson, and E.A. Wadhams, had obtained a 
renewable 21-year lease covering the whole of the island. More particularly, 
the leaqe related to: 

AU that piece or parcel of land and situate in Broughton Straits on the east coast of 
Vancouver Island and being known on the ofEcial Map as Cormorant lsland and con- 
taining s'ix hundred acres more or less as the same is Inore particularly described on 
the plan hereunto annexed . . .j8 

Although the lease described the area involved as 600 acres (whereas Cor- 
morant Island is in actual fact closer to 1500 or 1600 acres), the annexed 
plan included the whole island. 

The lease, dated August 3, 1870, was signed by B.W. Pearse, Assistant 
Surveyor General, acting on behalf of the government of British Columbia in 
the temporary absence of the Chief Commissioner of Lands and Works and 
Surveyor General, Joseph Trutch. It contained a number of terms, including 
the following: 

Rent of $40 per annum was to be paid semi-annually on June 30 and 
December 31 each year. 

The lessees could not assign the lease without the consent in writing of the 
Chief Commissioner of Lands and Works. 

56 G.M. Sproat to Superintendent General of Indian AB&rs, March 3, 1880 (ICC Ewhibit 2, vol. 1, tab 45) .  
57 Federal Order in Council 1334, July 19, 1880 (ICC Docmenu, pp. 179-85). 
58 lease between B.W. Pearse, Asristmt Surveyor General, and A.W. Huron et al.. ~\u\ugust 3, 1870 (ICC Documen&, 
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The government retained the right to resume possession of any portion of 
the leased lands with two months' notice in ~r i t ing.~9 

There is evidence that the 'Nwgis First Nation had an established village 
on Cormorant Island before the lease was granted. In 1870 the Royal Navy 
was active on the coast and, in a report of his activities, Commander Mist of 
the HMS Sparrowhowk noted that on March 22, 1870, he went with inter- 
preters "to the Nimpkish winter village at Alert Bay."6o 

When Commissioner Sproat visited the area in 1879 he took note of the 
Huson lease at Cormorant Island and wrote to the Chief Commissioner of 
Lands and Works as Eollows: 

I h d  much anxiety respecting their lands on the part of all the Indians I have vis- 
ited - the Klah-hoose, Sliammon, Homalthko, Euclataw and the various Kwawkewlth 
tribes. 

Pending the results of the investigation which I am now actively making, I respect- 
fully mention that it would appear to be very undesirable that lands not ascertained to 
be lndians lands, or required as such, should be alienated by the Provincial Govem- 
ment in this quarter, particularly at Nimkish, Salmon River, Beaver Cove, or around 
Fort Rupert and at Campbell River. . . 

Mr. Wes Huson has applied for land at Nimkish, but it is essential that no sales 
should be made there until the Indians reasonable requirements are ascertained. 

From 1,200 to 1500 Indians look to Nimkish mainly for their support."' 

He also wrote to the Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, informing him 
that: 

The whole of C o m r a n t  Island, including so far as 1 can ascertain, a settlement of the 
Nikish Indians, where they still reside, has been released by the Provincial Govem- 
ment to a Mr. Ituson for a long term of years."? 

In the wake of these observations, Commissioner Sproat issued a Minute 
of Decision on January 2, 1880, allotting all of Cormorant Island, with the 
exception of 320 acres, to the Nimkeesh Indians. The Minute of Decision 
reads as follows: 

59 Lease beween B.W. Pearse, krirml Sulveyar Generd, and A.W. Huson e l  a]., hugusl 3. 1870 (ICC D~umenls, 
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A Reserve consisting of the whole of the Island described in the Admiralty Chart as 
Cormorant Island, Broughton Strait, opposite the month of Nimkeesh River with the 
exception of the following portions of land, also shown on sketch; namely 160 acres 
of land on a portion of which Mr. A. Wesly Husnn has his improvements, said 
160 acres not to have more frontage on Alert Bay than from the north boundary of his 
small potatoe [sic] patch (lying on the north side of a small stream between the 
stream and the lndian houses) southerly alw shore to within two chains of the most 
northerly Indian grave and excepting also 160 acres of land applied for to the Govem- 
ment by Mr. Hall, which last named portion is not to have more than 10 chains 
frontage on Alea Bay, running westerly from the spot - !mown as the "Cedars" - the 
Indians to have prior right to water for household and necessaty purposes from al l  
sources of water supply on the IslandP3 

The Mr. Hall mentioned in the Minute of Decision was Reverend Hall - a 
missionary who wished to establish a mission on Cormorant Island. 

On January 4, 1881, a year after Commissioner Sproat had allotted the 
island as a reserve, A.W. Huson wrote to the Chief Commissioner of Lands 
and Works giving his approval for Reverend Hall's application for "a portion 
of land North West of the Indian Village at Alert Bay."" Reverend Hall subse- 
quently made formal application to pre-empt 160 acres of Cormorant Island 
on March 10, 1881. Included in Reverend Hall's application was a sketch 
map indicating that the remainder of the island, other than his 160-acre 
application and Mr. Huson's 160 acres, was "Indian Re~erve."~' 

A.W. Huson again raised the matter of his lease on Cormorant Island in 
November 1881 when he wrote to the Chief Commissioner of Lands and 
Works to inform him that he had purchased the interest of E.J. Huson, 
U. Nelson, and E.A. Wadhams in the lease. Expressing a desire to build a fish 
cannery and to secure an unquestionable title to the land, Mr. Huson asked 
for either a Crown grant of 160 acres or the cancellation of Commissioner 
Sproat's reserve allotment. He complained that owing to Mr. Sproat's actions, 
"[t] he Indians are consequently now in possession of the land for which I 
am paying a yearly rental of $40."66 

It became clear, however, that the province had no intention of granting 
Mr. Huson's request for a Crown grant, and, instead, it turned its attention to 
cancelling Commissioner Sproat's allotment. On January 28, 1882, G.A. 

63 G.M. Sproat, Indian Resecve Commissioner, Minule of Deehion, January 2, 1880 (ICC Documents. pp. 176-78) 
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Walkem, the Chief Commissioner of Iands and Works, informed LW. Powell, 
Indian Superintendent for British Columbia, that the province would not rec- 
ognize the reserve set apart by Mr. Sproat on Cormorant Island for two 
reasons: 

Istly. Owing to his [Commissioner Sproat's] having been informed by letter of the 7th 
August 1879 from me, that the local Government would not accept any lndian reser- 
vations made by him on the North West Coast, and would therelore have to protest 
again his then intended purpose of proceeding up the Coast at a useless cost. 
2ndly. As the whole Island has been leased ever since August 3rd 1870 (prior to 
Confederation) by the Government to Messrs. Huson and others, at a yearly rental 
which has been regularly paid up to the present time. 

Mr. Sproat also undertook to lay off a plot of 160 acres out of this leasehold for 
the Revd. Mr. Hall for Church Missionary purposes. This extraordinary proceeding is 
only one of several instances of his reckless indBerence to the instructions given to 
him as Indian Commi~sioner.~' 

Mr. Powell's reaction to the province's decision was to write to the Super- 
intendent General of Indian Affairs, giving his understanding of Mr. Sproat's 
actions: "Mr. Sproat informed me at the time that the reserve he made at 
Cormorant Island was subject to the conditions of the lease referred to by 
Mr. Walkem, and was not intended to interfere in any way with the same until 
its time Limit had expired."68 He went on to describe the circumstances of the 
island: 

It is also desirable to inform you that a large tribe of Indians have a village on Cormo- 
rant Island upon the land leased to Mr. Huson. 

Cormorant Island is just opposite the mouth of the Nimpkish River, which 
although small, has always been a most important Eshing stream for the Indians. . . . 
The Nimpkish river is however a small stream at best, but as a large number of 
Indians derive their supply of food from there, it is a l l  the more necessaty to protect 
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not only their fishing rights, but to make suitable reservations for them which in the 
future may be free from encroachments. 

In view of the prospective establishment of other Canneries, the statement commu- 
nicated to Mr. Sproat in August 1879 and now referred to in the enclosed lener i.e. 
that the reserves made by Mr. Spmat on the North West Coast would not be recog- 
nized by the Pmvindal Government should have, in my opinion, immediate considera- 
tion, and the necessaty steps &en to provide a satisfactoly solution to the apparent 
difficulty.@ 

While Mr. Powell waited for a reply from the Superintendent General, Mr. 
Nelson and Mr. Wadhams wrote to the Chief Commissioner of Lands and 
Works on February 6, 1882, notifying him that they had assigned and trans- 
ferred their interests in the Cormorant Island lease to A.W. Hus0n.7~ 

In response to Mr. Powell's lener, the Deputy Superintendent General 
instructed Mr. Powell to obtain the opinion of J.W. Trutch, by this time John 
A. Macdonald's "Confidential Agent on Indian Mairs and Railways Matters."" 
By memorandum dated May 5, 1882, Mr. Trutch dealt with the two objec- 
tions raised by the Chief Commissioner of Lands and Works in his lener of 
Januaty 28, 1882. With regard to the first objection (that Mr. Sproat had 
been informed that the province would not accept any reservations on the 
Northwest Coast), Mr. Trutch argued that the objection was of questionable 
validity because the Chief Commissioner's letter of August 7, 1879, to Mr. 
Sproat conveyed "only an expression of opinion on behalf of the Provincial 
Government that it would be impolitic for Mr. Sproat . . . to visit the Indians 
on the North West Coa~t."~' However, Mr. Trutch did find the Chief Commis- 
sioner's second objection (that the whole island was leased) "clearly valid 
and insurmountable": 

I cannot understand upon what grounds Mr. Sproat could have assumed discretion to 
appropriate any portion of this Island as an Indian Reservation, if he was aware of the 
fact that the whole of the lsland had been long previously placed under lease right, 
which was then stiU existing . . . 

M the conditions and agreements have been observed, and pelformed by the 
Lessees, and there is no question that this Leaseright is now in full force. . . . 
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Power is indeed resetved to the Gwrnment of British Columbia in the Indenture 
of b e  to resume possession of the whole o r  any portion of the premises thereby 
demised, upon giving two (2) months notice to the Lessees. But the exercise of this 
right is entirely in the discretion of that Government, and was certainly not intended to 
be, and doubtless will not be &en advantage of except on grounds of the require- 
ments of the public interests, and upon payment of just compensation to the Lessee's; 
and it is evident from the letter of the Chief Commissioner of Lands and Works now 
under consideration that such requirements are not held by the Government of British 
C o h b i a  to exist, in connection with Mr. Sproat's unauthorized appropriation of Cor- 
morant Island as an Indian Reservation." 

In January 1884 the lease on Cormorant Island was transferred from A.W. 
Huson to T. Earle and S. Spencer, two men who wished to operate a cannery 
on the island.'* The transfer of the lease marked the beginning of the next 
phase in the controversy over the Sproat allotment. On February 14, 1884, 
George Blenkinsop, the Indian Agent for the Kwawkewlth Agency, informed 
Indian Superintendent Powell that Mr. Spencer had renewed the lease for 
Cormorant Island. With regard to the Sproat allotment, Mr. Blenkinsop 
observed: 

There i s .  . . abundant evidence to prove, both by living testunooy and by the remains 
and relics of by-gone days, that Alert Bay was, formerly, the home of a large Indian 
population. In fact, they abandoned the place only in 1837-1838, on the first appear- 
ance of smallpox, when great numbers of them perished. . . . 

The action of Mr. Sproat in I880 was entirely brought about by Mr. Huson the 
then lessee, as he preferred having defmite claims for himself, the Mission, and the 
Indians, and surrendered his lease to accomplish these objects. 

The present occupants are surely bound by this action of Mr. Huson." 

Mr. Powell, in turn, wrote to Commissioner O'ReiUy to apprise him of the 
situation on Cormorant Island. Mr. PoweU offered the opinion that: 

In view of the correspondence between the two Governments in regard to the former 
lease held by Mr. Huson, and the fact that a large Indian Viage existed on the land, I 
am at a loss to understand any reason for regranting the lease to another applicant." 

71 Memorandum a l J W  Truth,  ConGdeottal Agent, May 5, 1882 (ICC Documents, pp. 210-15). 
7 %  The date s taken kam A.J. Hall 10 William Smithe, Chief Commissioner 01 Lands and Works, March 27, 1884 

(ICC Documents, pp. 228-31). 
75  George Blenkinsop, Indian Agent, to I.W. Powell, Indim Superistendent. February 14, 1884 (ICC Documents. 

pp. 220-22). 
76 I.W. Po%,eU, Indim Superintendent. to Peter O'Retlly, February 26. 1884 (ICC Documenti. p. 223), 



He concluded by suggesting that, if the statement made to Indian Agent 
Blenkinsop (that the lease had been granted to Spencer) was correct, "the 
matter might be referred to the Right Hon Superintendent General for settle- 
ment with the Hon Chief Commissioner of Lands and Works while the latter 
gentleman is in O n a ~ a . " ~ ~  

Indian Superintendent Powell also wrote to the Superintendent General of 
Indian Affairs, enclosing Agent Blenkinsop's letter and pointing out that there 
was a clause in the original lease that permitted the Chief Commissioner of 
Lands and Works to terminate the lease by giving two months' notice or  to 
amend it by taking any portion of the leased land that might be desirable. He 
warned: 

The right which Mr. Spencer assumes by virtue of the lease of controlling a large 
Indian Viage or of inviting other tribes to settle on land allotted to and claimed by 
Nimpkish Indians would soon occasion serious ditficulties. 

Alert Bay is a central location more convenient than Fort Rupert for the headquar- 
ters of the agent of the Department m d  it is not desirable that Mr. Spencer should 
have the leasehold of more land on the Island than is absolutely essential for Cannery 
purposes, and, in any event, all doubt should be removed as to the right he claims to 
exercise over the Nimpkish V i e  and resewe. 

Upon inquiry at the land office, it would appear that Mr. Huson has transferred his 
right to the lease to Mr. Spencer but so far as the Surveyor General is aware no 
official sanction has as yet been given by Mr. Smithe to the conveyance.'" 

Commissioner O'Reifly reported to the Superintendent General that any 
action would be inopportune until the province consented "to re enter, and 
take possession of such portions of the Island a.  are necessaty for the Indi- 
a n ~ . " ~ W e  stated that the province had the power to take such steps under 
the terns of the lease, and added Further that "a portion of the land under 
consideration is the site of a large Indian village, and as such should never 
have been included in the lease granted to Mr. Hus~n."~O 

In March 1884 Reverend Hall, apparently learning that the Huson lease 
had been transferred to Mr. Spencer, wrote to the Chief Commissioner of 
Lands and Works expressing concern over the security of his pre-emption on 
the island, since Mr. Spencer had informed him that he might now be a 

77 I.W. PoweU. Indian Superintendent, to Peter O'ReiUy. February 26, 1884 (ICC Dacumenls, p. 223). 
78 I.W. Powell, Indian Superintendent, to Superintendent of Indian Main, February 27. 1884 (ICC Documents, 

" "?A, --.,. 
79 P. O'Reilly to Superintendent Cened of Lndian Mars, Februaty 28. 1884 (ICC Dacurnentr, pp. 225-27). 
80 P. O'ReiUy to Superintendent Cened of Indian Hairs. February 28. 1884 (LCC Documene. pp. 225-27). 
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trespasser. As with Indian Agent Blenkinsop before him, Reverend Hall 
argued that the whole situation was the result of Mr. Huson's actions. Rever- 
end Hall asserted that it was Mr. Huson who had proposed cancelling his 
(Huson's) lease in exchange for a free grant of 160 acres, and then making 
the balance an Indian reserve.8t 

The province, however, maintained that the difficulty at Cormorant Island 
was "entirely the creation of the Indian Reserve Commissioner who without 
any right, legal or otherwise, to do so assumed authority to place under 
reservation land which was at the time of action under lease to Messrs. 
Huson and others."82 Accordingly, the Chief Commissioner of Lands and 
Works, William Smithe, resisted any suggestion that the province should ter- 
minate the lease. 

Early in June 1884, Commissioner O'Reilly suggested that he go to Cormo- 
rant Island and ascertain what quantity of land was necessary for the Indi- 
ans.83 Chief Commissioner Smithe accepted Mr. O'Reilly's offer, stating that 
he could "see no reason why, if properly undertaken, the requirements of the 
Indians and the interest of the lessees may not be severally con~erved . "~~  
After receiving the approval of the Chief Commissioner, Mr. O'Reilly 
approached the Deputy Superintendent General, who also endorsed his 
visit.8i 

Commissioner O'Reilly travelled to Cormorant Island in the fall of 1884, 
and on October 20, 1884, he set out two reserves on Cormorant Island for 
the Nimkeesh Indians: a ''Kame of fifti (50) acres, situated on Alert Bay, 
Cormorant Island," and a "Burial g roud ,  containing two (2) acres." He 
then submitted the Minutes of Decision for the reserves to the Chief Commis- 
sioner of Lands and Works and the Deputy Superintendent General of Indian 
Affairs for their approval.87 In his letter to the Chief Commissioner, Mr. 

81 A .  Hd to Willim Smithe, Chief Commissioner of Lands md Works. March 27, 1884 (ICC Documenu, 
pp. 228-31). 

82 Willim Smihe, Chief Canmissioner of Llnds and Work ,  to 1. Vankoughnet, Depuly Superintendent General oi 
lndlan haws, April 12, 1884 (ICC Documentn. pp. 232-39). 

83 P. O'ReiUy to the Chief Commissioner 01 bnds and Works, June 4. 1884 (ICC Documents. pp. 24041) .  
84 W i a m  Smihe. Chief Commissioner of lands and Works. to P. O'ReiUy, lune 13. 1884 (ICC Documents. . . 

p. 242). 
85 P. O'Reilly to 1. Vankoughnet, Deputy Superintendent General of Indian Maus, October 4, 1884 (ICC Docu- 

ments, p. 243); 1. Vmkoaghnet, Deputy Suprinlendea General of Indim hiiurr, to P. O'ReUy, October 20, 
1884 (ICC Doeumenu, pp. 245-46). 

86 P. O'ReUy, Indian Reserve Commissioner. Minutes of Deckion. October 20. 1834 (ICC Documeas, pp. 247- 
55). 

87 P. O'ReiUy to the Chief Commirrioner of Lands and Works, Nowmber 29. 1884 (ICC Docmenu,  p. 256). It is 
not clear when Commissioner O'ReiJly rubmuted the Minuter of Decision to the Deputy Superintendent General 
of Indian Maim. The latter acknowledged receipt at the Minutes on Februaly 26, 1885: 1. Vankaughnet, DepuIy 
Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, la P. O'ReiUy, February 26, 1885 (ICC Documents, p. 258). 
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O'Reilly indicated that he had conferred with Mr. Spencer, the lessee, before 
setting out the reserves, and that Mr. Spencer had given his support for the 
proposed  reserve^.^ The Chief Commissioner gave his approval on Decem- 
ber 2, 1884: "The reserve proposed seems to me to be reasonable and with 
Mr. Spencer on behalf of the lessees of the Island consenting as you report, I 
am verj glad to approve."@ 

Commissioner O'Reilly visited the Nimkeesh Indians again in 1886, at 
which time he alloned an additional three reserves. By Minutes of Decision 
dated September 21, 1886, he alloned: 

IR 3: "-, a reserve of three hundred and thirty five (335) acres, 
situated at the mouth of Nimkeesh, -, and south of 
and adjoining Section six (6) Rupert district." 

IR 4: "Arse . . .  ce wy ee , a reserve of forty two (42) acres, situated on the left 
bank of the Nimkeesh river, about two and a half miles from its 
mouth." 

IR 5 :  "O-tsaw-la, a reserve of Gfty (50) acres, situated on the right bank of 
Nimkeesh, half a mile from the outlet of KanrutseuLake."90 

These three reserves were approved by the Chief Commissioner of Lands and 
Works on July 27, 1888.9' 

There are discrepancies between the acreage figures set out in Commis- 
sioner O'Reilly's Minutes of Decision and the figures appearing in subsequent 
documentation. The 1913 Schedule of Indian Reserves in the Dominion lists 
the following acreage figures for the five reserves: 

1 Alert Bay. .  . 46.25 (acres) 

2 Burial ground. . . 1.87 

3 Ches-!a-kee . . . 302.87 

88 P. O'ReiJly to the Chief Cammissioner of lands and Work. November 29, 1884 (ICC Documents, p. 256). 
89 William Smuhe, Chief k l s r i o n e r  of Lands and Work, to P. O'Refly, December 2,  1884 (ICC Dacumenu. - sz-,  p. ',,,. 
90 P. O'Re~lly, Indian Reserve Commi.ssioner, Minutes of Decision, September 21, 1886 (ICC DoeumeMs, pp. 250- 

CC? ,,,. 
91 Plan of the Nimkeesh Indian Resems (ICC Documents, p. 259). 
92 Schedule d Indian Reselves in the Daminion. 1913 (ICC Documenu. p. 267). 



These figures are consistent with those conGrmed in the Minutes of Decision 
of the Royal Commission on Indian Affairs for the Province of British Colum- 
bia (McKenna-McBride Commission) on August 14, 1914," and with the 
amount of land transferred to the federal government by provincial Order in 
Council 1036 on July 29, 1938.94 Thus, the 'Nmgis First Nation was ulti- 
mately allotted 46.25 acres for Alert Bay (IR l) ,  and 1.87 acres for the burial 
ground (IR 2), for a total of 48.12 acres on Cormorant Island. 

ORAL TESTIMONY. OCCUPATION AND USE OF CORMORANT ISLAND 

During the community session at Alert Bay, we heard the evidence of several 
elders and community members that the 'Namgis people historically used 
(and, to a certain extent, still use) the whole of Cormorant Island. For 
example, George Cook described in some detail the food- and wood-gather- 
ing activities that took place throughout the island: 

[Wle also had our food supply on this island [cormorant Island], we used to get 
wood on the southern portion of the island, also picked seaweed there for our liveli- 
hood, and Chinese slippers. And all this was all - this was on the southern portion of 
the island, ,md also on the northern portion of the island we had clam beds there 
also. 
. . .  

And 1 think the cemetely on the island, it gives a good indication that the whole 
island belonged to Nimpkish, and until the island was divided up and the B.C. Packers 
came in and came in the middle of the island and separated the reserve from the 
cemetely so that there was a block put in there, in reality there was a trail from the 
reserve, as it's called in the English language. So to our people, the clear indication is 
that the whole island still belongs to Nimpkish. Also that on the top of the island that 
there was -our people used to go and also pick salalberries, huckleberries, all these, 
and they used to dry them and put them away for the winter. So there's a clear 
indication that the whole island was made use by our ancestors. 

And even today we still go at the top of the island and I think - where you came in 
yesterday, in the airport, there's still huckleberries there and things like that - stiU 
there, which we stiU use for our supply. 

This on the chart is Gordon Bluff here, and this is what I was talking about where 
we picked our seaweed, and they still do that today all along here, and also that all 
along in here, there's a smail clam bed here. And on top of the island here where you 

91 Royal Commission on Indian 'flairs for the Province of British Columbia, Minuter of Decision, August 14, 1914 
(ICC Documenur, p 293) 

94 Schedule of Resexve hllounenl is Kwawkerlth Agency allached to Provincial Order in Council 1036, July 29, 
1938 (ICC Documena. p. 295). 
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landed yesterday, this is where we still pick berries, salmonberries and huckleberries 
and salalberries, aH these are all foods up here . . . 
. . . 

Also on the Gordon Bluff on Cormorant Island that the sea eggs here also that we 
used for food.Y' 

- George Cook 

In addition to food- and wood-gathering, the elders recalled that a num- 
ber of areas were used as burial ~ites.9~ George Cook gave us the following 
information: 

Ms. G~os-LOUIS AH EN.^: DO you remember any burial sites on this island or any 
other island in question? 

GEORGE COOK: Yes, there's a cemetery on the island, and also that - it w.ds passed 
down to me there's also a custom that they buried in large trees that we had on the 
island. And they're -just up until a few years ago that these boxes of our dead were - 
how shall I put that, now? - the boxes feu down, but they were scattered all across 
the island. Thev had to ~ i c k  terrain trees and thev had to be sturdy trees and have a 
lot of branches. So the; to my knowledge didn't bick specac spois. It had to go by 
the tree. 

And yes, we also have a cemetery here, and I think there also has been a lot of 
harm done to our ancestors that have been buried there. The museum is built on 
some of our past leaders and great people, and today that's still very hard to take for 
our people that they know. They even have the names of the people at - where the 
museum is today, the museum was built right on top of it. The museum is down on 
the southern end of the is1and.Y' 

- George Cook 

Bill Cranmer9* provided similar evidence: 

I understand that there were different trees selected right throughout Cormorant 
Island for burial sites.* 

- Bill Cranmer 

95  ICC Transcript, Apd 21, 1995, pp. 2 ~ 6  (George Cwk).  See also the testimony of Ethel Ured (ICC Transcript, 
Aprd 20. 1995, pp 16-18. 27) and Peggv Svanvik (ICC Transcript, April 20. 1 9 5 ,  p. 33). 

96 See the lestimonv of Mary Hanuse (ICC Transcript, April 20, 1995, p. 10) and Ethel Alfred (ICC Transcript. 
April 20, 1995, p. 25). 

97 ICC Transcript. Apd 21, 1995, p. 10 (George Cook). 
98 At he time of he cmmuniry searion, Bid Cranmer was the Dvector of the U'misla Cultural Cense, and he is 

currenliy the Chairman of the Board of the Cenue. He was elected Chief of the 'Namg~r First Nauon an May 10. 
I W i  

99 ?C ~ r a n s c r i ~ t ,  Apnl 21, 1995, p. l 5 (Bill Cranmer) 
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Many of the witnesses at the community session spoke of the hardship 
faced by the 'Nmgis people after the reserves were allocated on Cormorant 
Island. They explained to the Commission that they were severely restricted 
by the amount of land provided for their use: 

It's such a small place that we never had a place to play. We used to just play in front 
of the long houses. 
. . .  

So there's a lot of things that from now on, from my generation down, they're 
having a hardship for the recreation and shlff, like for the kids, because this island is 
too small. They should have given them more space, you know, to build things and 
stuttlm 

- Mary Hanuse 

So it was -we didn't have no place to play. 
. . . 

So it was pretty hard growing up. We had no places to go to, you know, aher they 
must have divided - the government must have divided the island and said that we 
didn't need any big place to be, you know.lO' 

- Ethel Alfred 

But the idea that the whole island belonged to them, and it was only when a decision 
came down that they allotted - was it 50 acres or whatever it was to the Nimpkish to 
live there, that there was - I  think it was also mentioned yesterday how crowded that 
the Nimpkish were in that small village, and they don't think at that time when the 
50 acres was allotted that it's always customary that all our homes were all along the 
waterfront. But when you give 50 acres to people - to the Nimpkish, I should say - 
and the limited shoreline that was left to them, the hardships that our people went 
through and our children also at that time, there was no room for them to play or 
anything of that sort.'0' 

- George Cook 

Several of the elders also told us about the inadequacies of their water 
supply: 

We did have a hard time, because 1 knew I  had to pack water when it's kind of a dry 
season, because we never had water until later on, in the '5Os, I guess, when they 
started fnding the well for this reserve anyway.'03 

- Mary Hanuse 

lw ICC Tnnrcript, April 20. 1995, pp. 12-13 (Mary Hmuse). 
101 ICC Tnnrcript, dpnl 20, 1995, pp. 16 and 19 (Ethel Alfred). 
102 ICC Tranrcripl, A p d  21. 1995, p.  8 (George Cook). 
lo3  ICC Transcripl, A p d  20, 1995, p. 13 (W Hanuse). 



' N A M J I S  - C O R M O R A N T  ISLAND C L A I M  INQUIRY R E P O R T  

And it used to be very hard for us. . . . We had no water, running water. We had a 
well, and I used to empty that well we had. It used to kind of dry up, and I'd go inside 
it and scmb it because it was used for every day. Boys had to pack water every 
day. . .IM 

- Ethel Alfred 

I was born in time to be packing water too. We didn't have &g water at home. 
There was a weU further up from where E k l  Lived where we used to go and pack 
water, and there was just a trail going up there that we used to pack water when we 
were children.lO' 

- Peggy Svanvik 

[Nlo consideration was taken that their water supply was only surface water and the 
water that they were drinking, what 1 was told was that there was coloured water. It 
wasn't clear water, which would mean that it either ran through cedar that's laying on 
the ground or rain water, and this was their water supply at that time. 
. . . 

[Wlheu the B.C. Packers moved in and they built a dam and further cut off the water 
supply to the village, and also that the effect of a cannery, how it affected our people, 
was all the guts and heads, whatever, that these all drifted along the beach.'" 

- George Cook 

[Mly mother has also said that it appears that our people were just slowly pushed 
away from the traditional water supply that they used to have, which is the swamp, as 
they call it, that had a creek running down -it's now called Gater Gardens - and that 
supply was lost to our people. 

. . . our people were slowly pushed away from the creek that used to be the major 
water supply on the island, which was taken over by B.C. Packers for their cannery.lu7 

- Bill Cranmer 

Thus, we heard evidence that, historically, the whole of Connorant Island was 
used by the 'Nagis  people for such purposes as food- and wood-gathering 
and for burials. Despite this use of the entire island, only a small portion of 
the island was ultimately confirmed as reserves for the 'Nmgis people. As a 
result, they were left with a severe shortage of space and with an inadequate 
supply of water. 

, ..~,.. 
107 ICC ~ n n s c r ~ l ;  A& 21, 1995, pp. 15 and18 (~111 cknmer): 
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PART IV 

ISSUES 

The central question this Commission has been asked to inquire into and 
report on is whether Canada properly rejected the Cormorant Island claim of 
the 'Nagis  First Nation.'08 In other words, does Canada owe an outstanding 
lawful obligation, as defined in Outstanding Business, to the 'Nagis  First 
Nation? This overarching question can be broken down into the following 
subsidiary issues: 

1 Did Canada have a mandatory obligation pursuant to the Order in Council 
(and related documentation) appointing Mr. Sproat as Indian Reserve 
Commissioner to refer the rejection of Commissioner Sproat's allotment of 
Cormorant Island to a Judge of the British Columbia Supreme Court? 

2 Did Canada have a fiduciary obligation to refer the rejection of Commis- 
sioner Sproat's allotment of Cormorant Island to a Judge of the British 
Columbia Supreme Court? 

3 In the alternative, did Canada have an obligation pursuant to Article 13 of 
the Terms of Union, 1871, to refer the rejection of Commissioner Sproat's 
allotment of Cormorant Island to the Secretary of State for the Colonies? 

4 If the answer to Issue 2 or 3 is yes, did Canada fulfil its obligation by 
asking Mr. Trutch to review the matter and provide his opinion? 

5 If the rejection of Commissioner Sproat's allotment of Cormorant Island 
had been referred to a Judge of the British Columbia Supreme Court, 
would Commissioner Sproat's allotment have been upheld? 

108 We now lhrl here no agreement bewee,een the parties as lo the specific issues lo be addressed by lhe 
Commission in this inquiry 
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6 Was Canada negligent in not referring the rejection of Commissioner 
Sproat's allotment of Cormorant Island to a Judge of the British Columbia 
Supreme Court or to the Secretary of State for the Colonies? 

7 Does this claim fall within the scope of the Specific Claims Policy? 



PART V 

ANALYSIS 

ISSUE 1 

Did Canada have a mandatory obligation pursuant to the Order in Council 
(and related documentation) appointing Mr. Sproat as Indian Reserve Com- 
missioner to refer the rejection of Commissioner Sproat's allotment of Cor- 
morant Island to a Judge of the British Columbia Supreme Court? 

The Orders in Council 
As discussed in Part I11 above, the Order in Council by which Mr. Sproat was 
appointed sole Indian Reserve Commissioner was dominion Order in Coun- 
cil 170. It was passed by the dominion government on March 8, 1878, and 
essentially adopted the recommendations contained in the annexed memo- 
randum of David Mills, Minister of the Interior, dated March 7, 1878. For 
ease of reference, we repeat the relevant portion of Mr. Mills's memorandum 
(and, by extension, Order in Council 170) here: 

It is therefore recommended that instead of assigning h e  task of primarily allotting 
the Reserves to the Indian Superintendents in their respective Superintendencies, as 
proposed by that Order in Council of the 23rd Februaly 1877, the present Joint Com- 
missioner Mr. Sproat be appointed to discharge that important duty subject to the 
approval of the Commissioner of Lands a11d Works of British Columbia and in the 
event of any diierence between the Commissioner and Mr. Sproat the matter lo be 
referred to one of the Judges of the Supreme Court as provided by that Order in 
Council. "N 

The "Order in Council of the 23rd February 1877" mentioned in Mr. Mills's 
memorandum outlines a similar procedure for resolving disputes between 

I09 Memorandum of D a d  MUs. Miniaer a1 the lnleriar. March i. 1878 (ICC Documents, pp. 64-73). Emphasis 
added 
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the Commissioner of Lands and Works and Mr. Sproat but uses slightly differ- 
ent language: 

. . . after the dissolution of the Lfointl Commission the Superintendents of lndian 
flairs in their respective localities should apportion as soon as practicable all the 
lands remaining unalloned o r  unresemed by the present Commission, such apportion- 
ment to be subject to the appmval of the Chief Commissioner of lands and Works of 
British Columbia acting on behalf of the Local Government, and in the event of any 
difference beween the Superintendents and the Chief Commissioner as to the extent 
or locality of the lands to be allotted, the matter might be refined to one of the 
Judges of the Supreme Court of that Province whose decision should be final."o 

The impetus for the Order in Council of February 23, 1877, was a letter sent 
to the Minister of the Interior from the Provincial Secretary, A.C. Elliott. That 
letter, embodied in a provincial Order in Council dated January 30, 1877, 
provides a third variation in language: 

After the dissolution of the present Indian Commission, the Superintendents of Indian 
Afiairs, in their respective localities, should apportion a soon as possible, all the 
lands remaining unalloned or unreserved by the present Commission. 

The lands thus apportioned should however be subject to the approval of the Chief 
Commissioner of Lands and Works, acting on behalf of the Provincial Government 
before being finally Gazetted as lndian Reserves. In the event of any differences 
existing between the Chief Commissioner of lands and Works and the Superintendents 
of Indian Affairs as lo size or extent of lands to be allotted to any Indian Tribe, the 
matter could be referred to one of the Judges of the Supreme Court, whose decision 
should be final."' 

Thus, we have three Orders in Council - one saying any difference between 
the Commissioner of Lands and Works and Mr. Sproat is "to be referred" to 
one of the Judges of the Supreme Court (dominion Order in Council 170); 
one saying any difference "might be referred to one of the Judges of the 
Supreme Court (federal Order in Council of February 23, 1877); and one 
saying any diierence "could be referred to one of the Judges of the 
Supreme Court (provincial Order in Council of January 30, 1877). 

tla Federal Order in Council, Febmq 23, 1877 (ICC Documents, pp. 59-61). Emphasis added. 
111 A.C. EUoo, Provlncill Secreq ,  lo Minister d the Interior, January 27, 1877. NA, RG 10, vol. 3641, Ile 7567 

(ICC [ile 2109-05-1). Emphasis added. 
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Submissions of the Parties 
Canada argues that it did not have a mandatory obligation to refer "differ- 
ences" between Commissioner Sproat and the Chief Commissioner of Lands 
and Works to a Judge of the Supreme Court. It emphasizes that direct refer- 
ence is made in dominion Order in Council 170 to the federal Order in 
Council of February 23, 1877. Therefore, Canada submits, it is necessary to 
consider the wording of the latter Order in Council to determine the circum- 
stances under which a reference was to be made to a Judge of the Supreme 
Court. The Order in Council of February 23, 1877, provides that references 
in the event of "any difference" "might" be made to one of the Judges of the 
Supreme Court. In addition, the provincial Order in Council of January 30, 
1877, provides that references in the event of "any differences" "could be 
made to one of the Judges of the Supreme Court. Relying on the dictionary 
definitions of "might," "could," and "can" - definitions that suggest an over- 
riding theme of possibility or permission - Canada concludes that a referral 
of differences to a Judge of the Supreme Court was a discretionary rather 
than a mandatory proces~."~ 

The claimant submits that, despite the word "might" in the Order in Coun- 
cil of February 23, 1877, it was mandatoty that Canada refer the rejection of 
Commissioner Sproat's allotment to a Judge of the Supreme Court. In support 
of its position, the claimant argues that there are a number of cases in which 
the courts have interpreted enabling or empowering words (such as "may) 
as mandato1y.~~3 

Terms of Dominion Order in Council 170 
If one views the terms of dominion Order in Council 170 in isolation, the 
referral of "differences" to a Judge of the Supreme Court seems to be imper- 
ative. Instead of a term expressing a possible or permissible referral, such as 
"could or "might," Order in Council 170 uses the mandatory phrase "to be 
referred." One could argue, therefore, that the change in wording between 
Order in Council 170 and the previous Orders in Council signalled a change 
from a discretionary to a mandatory dispute resolution process. 

However, as Canada points out, Order in Council 170 makes direct refer- 
ence to the Order in Council of February 23, 1877: "in the event of any 
difference between the Commissioner and Mr. Sproat the matter to be 

It1 Submisstonr on Behdf of the Government of Canada. September 11. 199j. pp 36-39. 
115 Written Sl~bmissianr on Behdf of rhe Namgis First Nation. Formerly Know as the Nimpkish Indian B d .  

Septembet 7 ,  199j, pp. 19-22. 
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referred to one of the Judges of the Supreme Coua as provided by that 
Order in Council [Order in Council of the 23rd February 18771" (emphasis 
added). Therefore, it appears that at least part of the Order in Council of 
February 23, 1877, was incorporated into Order in Council 170, but which 
part? One possibility is that the words "as provided by that Order in Council" 
relate only to the identification of the referee - one of the Judges of the 
Supreme Court. A second possibility is that the words "as provided by that 
Order in Council" relate to the whole dispute-resolution process. 

We tend to think that the second possibility is the most plausible and that 
the words "might be referred were incorporated into Order in Council 170. 
This approach is supported by later correspondence which indicates that the 
procedure described in the Order in Council of February 23, 1877, was 
meant to govern the actions of Commissioner Sproat. For example, after the 
dominion government passed Order in Council 170 appointing Mr. Sproat as 
sole Indian Reserve Commissioner, the Minister of the Interior sent a tele- 
gram to the Lieutenant Governor of British Columbia stating as follows: 
"Please carry out order of February seventy seven respecting Indian Comm. 
substituting Sproat for Indian Supt."Il4 

Case Law 
Even if the words "might be referred were incorporated into Order in Coun- 
cil 170, we have yet to consider the circumstances in which the courts have 
construed empowering words, such as "might," as mandatory. One of the 
seminal cases in this area of the law is the House of Lords decision in Julius 
v. Lord Bishop of Oxford.115 In that case, four judges considered whether the 
words "it shall he lawful" in the Church Discipline Act imposed a duty 
rather than a discretion to act. (We note that the words "it shall be lawful" 
are equivalent to the word "may.") In his reasons for judgment, Lord Chan- 
cellor Earl Cairns outlined the following principles of interpretation: 

The words "it shall be lawful" are not equivocal. They are plain and unambiguous. 
They are words merely making that legal and possible which there would otherwise 
be no right o r  authority to do. They confer a faculty or power, and they do not of 
themselves do more than confer a faculty or power. But there may be something in 
the nature of the thing empowered to be done, something in the object for which it is 
to be done, something in the conditions under which it is to be done, something in 

1 1 4  David Milk, Minrler of the Interior, to A N .  Richards, Lieutenant Cavernor of British Columbia, Much 15, 1878 
(ICC E~hibit 51, 

l l i p l i u s  0. Lord Rlshop of oxford (18801, 5 hpp. Cu. 214 (HL). 



the title of the person or persons for whose benefit the power is to be exercised, 
which may couple the power with a duty, and make it the duty of the person in whom 
the power is reposed, to exercise that power when called upon to do so. . . . And the 
words "it shall be lawful" being according to their natural meaning permissive o r  
enabling words only, it lies upon those, as it seems to me, who contend that an 
obligation exists to exercise this power, to shew in the circumstances of the case 
something which, according to the principles 1 have mentioned, creates this 
~bligation."~ 

Lord Penzance and Lord Selbourne, similar to the Lord Chancellor, stressed 
the importance of context: 

[Lord Penzance:] The words "it shall be lawful" are distinctly words of permission 
only - they are enabling and empowering words. They confer a legislative right and 
power on the individual named to do a particular thing, and Ule true question is not 
whether they mean something Merent, but whether, regard being had to the person 
so enabled - to the subject-matter, to the general objects of the statute, and to the 
person o r  class of persons for whose benefit the power may be intended to have been 
conferred - they do, or do not create a duty in the person on whom it is conferred, to 
exercise it."' 
. . . 

[Lord Selbourne:] The question whether a Judge, or a public officer, to whom a 
power is given by such words, is bound to use it upon any particular occasion, o r  in 
any particular manner, must be solved aliunde, and, in general, it is to be solved 
from the context, from the particular provisions, or from the general scope and 
objects, of the enactment conferring the p ~ w e r . " ~  

Lord Blackburn held as follows: 

enabling words are construed as c o m p u l s o ~  whenever the object of the power is 
to effectuate a legal right. It is far more easy to shew that there is a right where private 
interests are concerned than where the alleged right is in the public only, and in fact, 
in every case cited, and in every case that 1 know of (where the words conferring a 
power are enabling only, and yet it has been held that the power must be exercised), 
it has been on the application of those whose private rights required the exercise of 
the power.. . . I do not, however, question that there may be a right in the public 
such as to make it the duty of those to whom a power is given to exercise that 
power."Y 

ll6Julitrs o. Lord Bishop qfDxford (1880), i App. Cas 214 at 222-23 (HI.). 
I 1 7 J u l i ~ ~  U. LordBirhop ofOzf~rd (1880), 5 App. Cas. 214 a1 229-30 (HL). 
llsjulius t. Lord Bishop ofOxford (1880). 5 App. Cas. 214 at 235 (HI.). 
tl9Julius a LordBishop of Oxford (1880). 5 App. Cu. 214 a1 244 (HL). 
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In his written submissions, legal counsel for the claimant states tbat "[tlhe 
linchpin of the test is the determination of whether the enabling words 'effec- 
tuate a legal right' or not."L2o He argues that, in this case, the Feded Crown 
had the ability to 'effectuate a legal right' by referring the matter to a judge of 
the Supreme Court."lzl 

Canada takes the position that there was no "legal right" to effectuate. In 
his oral submissions, Mr. Becker, counsel for Canada, explained as follows: 

Now, in this case we are dealing with, again, a process by which the provincial and 
federal governments were attempting to set aside reserves for bands. . . . it's our sub- 
mission that there is no private right to have reserve land set aside in ;my particular 
quantum or location. That . . . is entirely a subject matter for the exercise of the royal 
prerogative. 

Accordingly, it's our submission that these cases [the cases cited by the claimant 
including Julius] are inapplicable as there is no underlying right which would be 
effected in this case. In other words, the decision whether to refer the disagreement 
to the judge, that decision was not required to effectuate a legal right because there 
was no legal right to effectuate."' 

The claimant referred us to the British Columbia Supreme Court decision 
in Re Shaughnessy Golfand Country Club,"' which provides some assis- 
tance in determining whether the object of the power granted to Canada in 
the Order in Council was to effectuate a legal right. In the Shaughnessy case, 
section 395~(10) of the Vancouver Charter provided that the City Council 
"may enter into an agreement with Shaughnessy Golf and Country Club fixlng 
the amount that shall be deemed to be the assessed value of the latter's 
interest in the land presently maintained as Shaughnessy Golf and Country 
Club." The issue before Mr. Justice Verchere was whether the word "may" 
was permissive or mandatory. As the claimant notes, the absence of any term 
in the legislation pertaining to the resolution of disputes was central to his 
finding that the word was permissive: 

. . . the power granted here was only the power to enter into, that is to say become a 
party to, an agreement and the statute is silent on what can, should o r  must occur if 
an agreement is not reached. Neither Council nor Shaughnessy is required to capitu- 

120 Written Submissions on Behalf of the Nmgir  Firs1 Nauon, Formerly Known as the N i i p h s h  lndtan Band, 
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late and accept the amount proposed by the other; neither of them is requited to 
accept adjudication or arbitration in the event of dispute; furthermore, neither of 
them is required to commence batgaining on notice from the other or  to make rea- 
sonable effort to conclude an agreement. If the Legislature had intended to give 
Shaughnessy the right to an agreed assessed value of its golf-course lands it would, in 
my opinion, have provided for some of those conditions or  for other similar ones 
which wotdd make the alleged right capable of being recognized, asserted and 
enforced by specitic performance. 

In my opinion Shaugbnessy has failed to demonstrate that the object of the power 
granted to Council by s. 395~(10)  was to create or effectuate a legal right on its parl 
to the assessment of its golf-course lands. . . ln particular, it has failed to demon- 
strate the existence of a legal right on its part by which Council is required to agree to 
an amount that shall be deemed to be the assessed value of those lands.'24 

The circumstances of the 'Nmgis case, of course, are quite different. 
Unlike the Shaughnessy case, Canada and British Columbia had agreed upon 
a dispute-resolution process in the event of a difference between Mr. Sproat 
and the Commissioner of Lands and Works. By expressly providing for adju- 
dication by a Judge, arguably both levels of government, to use the words of 
Mr. Justice Verchere, "intended to give" the 'Nmgis and other First Nations 
"the right" to a reserve. 

In any event, in our view, the question of whether the word "might" 
should be construed as discretionary or obligatory is to be answered from 
the context and object of the relevant Orders in Council. This was the general 
approach advocated by several of the judges in Julius and an approach which 
we find particularly useful here. 

Mr. Becker addressed the matter of context briefly in his oral 
submissions: 

Now, it's also interesting to note that these orders-in-council were not formally 
drafted documents, but in fact some of these orders-in-council were basically incor- 
porated by reference letters and telegraph messages. I mean, these orders-in-council 
did not go through the serious rigorous drafting process, and I think that's important 
here as weU in terms of looking at the context. 

124 Re Sbmrgbnesry Gorand County Club (1967), 6t DLR (2d) 245 at 252.53 (BCSC). As acknowledged by the 
cldmant, Mr. lustice Verchere relied on section 23 of the interpmt~ztia Act, RSBC 1960, c. 199, whtch . . 
provides: 
2 3. In conssuing this or my Act of the Legislature, unless it is athewise provided, or there is ~omethtng in the 
context or aher provisions thereoi indicating a diaerent meantng, or d i n g  lor a diaerent conssuction, 
(a) the ward ''shall" is to be construed as imperalive, and the word "may" as permissive. 
However, MI. Justice Vemhere equated section 23 with the principles established injulius: ". . . it is necerrary, 
as Eul Cairns, L.C. lin/uliusi, stated above, and ar. he words of the hterpretafion Act indicate, to cvlvars the 
nature and abject of the le@slation and the conditions under which the hing provided for is to be done" (252). 
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These orders-in-council often merely reflected a letter that had been sent back 
and forth and had been incorporated by reference. I think that it goes quite far to 
suggest that using a word Like "might' or "coul6' in ordinary language in a letter that 
is subsequently appended to the - or incorporated by a reference to the order-in- 
council would suggest a n m g  other than the ordinary meaning of "might" or 
"could," which, again, is one of permis~iveness.'~' 

We take a broader view of context than the physical drafting process for the 
Orders in Council. As we see it, the key consideration is the goal Canada was 
attempting to achieve by Mr. Sproat's appointment and by the creation of the 
whole reserve commission process. 

The Joint Reserve Commission was established "with a view to the speedy 
andfinal ndjustment of the Indian Reserve question in British Columbia on 
a satisfactory basis."12b This finality was emphasized by Mr. Scott, Acting Min- 
ister of the Interior, in his memorandum of November 5, 1875: "the under- 
signed submits that no scheme for the settlement of this question can be held 
to be satisfactory which does not provide for its and 
m2&,"L27 These sentiments were reiterated by British Columbia in its Order 
in Council of January 6, 1876: 

With respect to the appointment of Commissioners, as suggested instead of Agents, the 
Committee feel that strictly speaking the Province should not be responsible for ;my 
portion of the expense connected with the charge or management of Indian affairs 
which are entrusted by the Terms of Union to the Dominion Government; but regard- 
ing a J w I  settlement of the land question as most urgent and most important to the 
peace and prosperity of the Province they are of opinion and advise that all the pro- 
posals. . . should be accepted.'28 

There is no reason to think that the objective of "finally settling" the land 
question changed with the dissolution of the Joint Commission and the 
appointment of Mr. Sproat as sole Indian Reserve Commissioner. 

To prevent a potential stalemate between Mr. Sproat and the Commis- 
sioner of Lands and Works, Canada and British Columbia agreed that the 
decision of a Judge of the Supreme Court "should be final." In fact, the two 
governments went further and agreed that they would share the cost of the 

135 ICC Transcript, September 21. 1995, pp. 128-29. 
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referee. It would therefore seem strange if Canada, when it drafted Order in 
Council 170, did not intend a reference to be made to a Judge of the 
Supreme Court in the event of a difference between Mr. Sproat and the Com- 
missioner of Lands and Works. Without such a reference, there would be no 
way of ensuring that the dispute would he resolved to the satisfaction of both 
levels of government and the matter "finally settled in a timely way. For 
example, if Mr. Trutch had concurred with Mr. Sproat's allotment, it is not at 
all certain that British Columbia would have accepted his opinion. The only 
dispute-resolution mechanism to which both Canada and British Columbia 
had agreed was a reference to a Judge of the Supreme Court (with the pos- 
sible exception of a reference to the Secretary of State for the Colonies pursu- 
ant to Article 13 of the Terns of Union, 1871). 

In short, given the underlying objective of the reserve commission pro- 
cess, we find that the word "might" in the Order in Council of February 23, 
1877, should be construed as mandatory. However, it is important to keep in 
mind that the obligation to refer a matter to a Judge only arose in the event of 
a "difference" between Mr. Sproat and the Chief Commissioner of Lands and 
Works. 

Existence of a "Difference" 
It is almost indisputable that there was a "difference" between Mr. Sproat 
and the Chief Commissioner of Lands and Works, and also behveen Canada 
and the Chief Commissioner of Lands and Works. Canada did not accept 
without question the latter's decision to disallow Mr. Sproat's allotment on 
Cormorant Island, as is evident from the fact that it referred the matter to Mr. 
Trutch for his opinion. Even after Mr. Trutch gave his opinion in support of 
the disallowance, officials from the Department of Indian Affairs continued to 
voice their dissatisfaction with British Columbia's position on the Cormorant 
Island allotment. For example, Indian Agent George Blenkinsop, on learning 
that Mr. Spencer had renewed the lease on Cormorant Island, wrote to 
Indian Superintendent Powell as follows: 

I have. . . the honor to bring to your notice the unfortunate position in which we are 
placed by [the provincial] Government ignoring the decision of the late Reserve Com- 
missioner, Mr. G.M. Sproat. 

The Indians are now here by sufferance, only, accordin(! to Mr. Spencer's view of . 
the case. 

There is, however, abundant evidence to prove, both by living testimony and by the 
remains and relics of by-gone days, that Alen Bay was, formerly, the home of a large 
Indian population. . . . 



The action of Mr. Sproat in 1880 was entirely brought about by Mr. Huson the 
then lessee, as he preferred having definite claims for himself, the Mission, and the 
Indians, and surrendered his lease to accomplish these objects. 

The present occupanls are surely bound by this action of Mr. H u s ~ n . ' ~ ~  

Indian Superintendent Powell, in turn, expressed concern with the regranting 
of the lease to Mr. Spencer in view of the fact that a large Indian village 
existed on the land.L30 

Considering the Lingering discontent with the situation on Cormorant 
Island, and given our legal and factual analysis as set out above, we find that 
Canada had a mandatory obligation to refer the rejection of Commissioner 
Sproat's allotment to a Judge of the Supreme Court. 

ISSUE 2 

Did Canada have a fiduciary obligation to refer the rejection of Commissioner 
Sproat's allotment of Cormorant Island to a Judge of the British Columbia 
Supreme Court? 

Submissions of the Parties 
The claimant submits that even if Canada did not have a mandatory obligation 
to refer the rejection of Commissioner Sproat's allotment to a Judge of the 
Supreme Court, it had a fiduciary obligation to do so: 

Even if the language [of the Order in Council] is not seen to be mandatory, this 
obligation existed, given the fiduciary relationship. In other words, it was either 
mandatory or,-alternatively, it was discretionary and the Crown, owing a fiduciary duty 
to the Band, was obliged to exercise that discretion and refer the matter.'j' 

In support of its position, the claimant states that there are numerous recent 
court decisions which set forth the proposition that "the Federal Crown, and 
perhaps also the Provincial Crown, owes a fiduciary duty to Indian~."~3~ 
Applying the characteristics of a fiduciary relationship enunciated by Madam 
Justice Wilson in Frame u. Smith, and by Mr. Justice La Forest in Hodgkin- 

I29 George Elenkinsop, Indian h g ~ n ~  lo I.W. Powell, Indian Superintendent, F e b r u q  14, 1884 (ICC Documenu. 
pp. 220-22). 
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son v. Simms, the claimant argues that Canada had sole discretion to protect 
the claimant's interests: "the only way the Band could have had Mr. Sproat's 
allotment of most of Cormorant Island to it upheld was by the Federal Crown 
exercising its discretion and having the matter referred to a Judge of the 
Supreme Court, as had been contemplated, or alternatively to the Secretary of 
State for the Colonies pursuant to Article 13 of the Terms of Union between 
Canada and British Columbia."'33 Since Canada was not required to obtain 
the province's agreement to such a referral, the claimant maintains that 
Canada had the power and ability to exercise its discretion unilaterally. 
Finally, the claimant submits that it was vulnerable to the exercise of Canada's 
discretion, since a referral to a Judge of the Supreme Court was the only 
dispute-resolution mechanism available when the Commissioner of Lands and 
Works disallowed the allotment, other than a referral to the Secretary of State 
for the Colonies, which would have been more cumbersome.134 

Canada denies that it had a fiduciary obligation to refer the rejection of 
Commissioner Sproat's allotment to a Judge of the Supreme Court. It submits 
that there was no statute, agreement, or unilateral undertaking that it would 
act for, on behalf of, or in the best interests of the claimant in the circum- 
stances of this claim. More specifically, Canada argues that: 

The relevant Orders in Council, which set out the process to ,allot reserves 
for Indian bands in British Columbia, were not statutes, but an exercise of 
the Royal Prerogative. 

The Orders in Council were not an agreement between the claimant and 
Canada or, even more generally, between Indian bands in British Columbia 
and Canada since there is no evidence that the claimant or the Indian 
bands were consulted in the formation of the Orders in Council or even 
knew of the existence of the terms of the Orders in Council at the time of 
the reserve allotments. 

There was no mutual understanding between the claimant and Canada that 
Canada had relinquished its own self-interest and had agreed to act solely 
on behalf of the claimant; in other words, there was no unilateral under- 
taking. In particular: 

133 Written Submissions an Behalf of (he Nungir Fin1 Nation, Formerly Known as the Nhplosh Indian Band. 
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- as mentioned above, there is no evidence that Indian bands were con- 
sulted in the formation of the Orders in Council or even knew of the 
existence of the terms of the Orders in Council; 

- the allotting of reserves for Indian bands in British Columbia was a joint 
political process between the federal and the provincial governments; 

- the Orders in Council required Mr. Sproat to take into account the 
claims of white settlers as well as the habits, wants, and pursuits of the 
Indians; and 

- the Orders in Council did not require Canada to challenge rejections by 
the Chief Commissioner of Lands and Works or to refer "differences" to 
a Judge of the Supreme Court. 

Moreover, Canada maintains that it did not have the power or the discre- 
tion unilaterally to affect the claimant's legal or practical interests. Rather the 
creation of reserves in British Columbia was a political process that required 
a joint decision by both the federal and the provincial governments. 

In any event, Canada submits that reserve creation in British Columbia is 
in the nature of a public law duty, not a private law duty, and therefore does 
not give rise to legally enforceable Educiary duties.'J5 

Public versus Private Law Duty 
At the outset, we do not accept Canada's argument that reserve creation in 
British Columbia is in the nature of a public law duty and therefore does not 
give rise to legally enforceable fiduciary duties. The issue of public versus 
private law duties was discussed by Mr. Justice Dickson (as he then was) in 
Guerin v. R.136  He held as follows: 

It should be naed that fiduciary duties generally arise only with regard to obligations 
originating in a private law context. Public law duties, the performance of which 
requires the exercise of discretion, do not typically give rise to a fiduciary relation- 
ship. As the "political trust" cases indicate, the Crown is not normally viewed as a 
fiduciary in the exercise of its legislative or administrative function. The mere fact, 
however, that it is the Crown which is obligated to act on the Indians' behalf does not 
of itself remove the Crown's obligation from the scope of the fiduciw principle. As 
was pointed out earlier, the Indians' interest in land is an independent legal interest. 

I35 Submksionr on Behdf of lhe Governrnenl of Canada, Seplember 11. 1995, pp. 3-5. 30-39 
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It is not a creation of either the legislative or executive branches of government. The 
Crown's obligation to the Indians with respect to that interest is therefore not a public 
law duty. While it is not a private law duty in the strict sense either, it is none the less 
in the nature of a private law duly. Therefore, in tMs suigeneris relationship, it is not 
improper to regard the Crown as a Educialy.'" 

Earlier in his decision, Mr. Justice Dickson discussed in more depth the 
"political trust" cases mentioned above: 

The "political trust" cases concerned essentially the distribution of public funds or 
other property held by the government. In each case the party claiming to be benefici- 
ary under a trust depended entirely on statute, ordinance or treaty as the basis for its 
claim to an interest in the funds in question. The situation of the Indians is entirely 
different. Their interest in their lands is a pre-existing legal right not created by Royal 
Proclamation, by s. 18(1) of the Indian Act, or by any other executive order or 
legislative provision. 

It does not matter, in my opinion, that the present case is concerned with the 
interest of an Indian band in a reserve rather than with unrecognized aboriginal title 
in traditional tribal lands. The Indian interest in the land is the same in both cases: 
seeA.-G.Qw. L'.A.-G. Can.(1920),56D.L.R. 373atpp. 378-9, [I9211 1 A.C. 401 at 
pp. 410-11 (the Star Chrome case)."" 

Canada argues that these passages in Guerin do not help the claimant in 
this case. Mr. Becker explained as follows in his oral submissions: 

Now, in [Guen'nl they were dealing with surrendered resewe lands, and while 
Uustice Dickson] does not distinguish between surrendered resewe lands and 
aboriginal titled lands, we have to here. We're [sic] don't have before us any informa- 
tion in terms of whether the band has an aboriginal title to these lands, and in fact 
we're not really entitled to deal with it in this process in any event. 

Now - 

THE QWRPERSON [COMMISSIONER PRENTICEI: SO you're saying that the duty to set up 
reselves is a public law duty? Once the reselves are set up, the b.md has an interest 
and it becomes a private law duty at that point? 

MR. BECKER: Yes, it becomes, as Justice Dickson says, it becomes in the nature of a 
private law duty, yes. 

Now, again, I would like to emphasize, and I'm sure the point's been made by 
now, but these lands were merely proposed to be resewe. I mean, Sproat went out 
and allotted them, but that allotment was subject to confirmation by the B.C. govem- 
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ment. That co&mtion did not ever arrive. It was disallowed by the B.C. govemment. 
Therefore these lands never became reserve. They never achieved the status that 
would have dorded them the same sort of analysis that Dickson gives these surren- 
dered reserve lands in Guedn where it's analogous or in the nahre of a private law 
duty. 

So in light of that state of afhks, it's difficult to conceive, and we submit that there 
is no basis to hold, that there is a duty to refer disagreements between Sproat and the 
provincial government to a judge. 

Since the underlying act of sening aside reserve lands is in the nature of a public 
law duty and there is no right of the band to compel Canada to set aside the lands in 
the first place, there's similarly no right which would compel Canada to seek the 
intervention of this judge, the possibility for which was provided for in these orders- 
in-co~ncil."~ 

And later in his oral submissions: 

THE CWRPERWN: Why do you say that - I'U go back to this question of private duties, 
oublic law duties. Whv do vou sav there was no dutv on the oart of Canada to submit . , 
the matter to arbitration as per the reciprocal orders-in-council? 

MR. BECER: Well, it's fundamentally premised on the fact that there's no pre-existing 
right of the band to which Canada would be compelled to act for their benefit. I 
mean, if this was reserve land already and the band had an established interest in the 
land as a reserve and there was some kind of analogous process that Canada was 
required to take, it would very Likely be a different story. But these are lands, again, 
puning aside the aboriginal title issue, these m lands that were provided - were 
going to be provided by Canada if all things had gone weU, and were allotted by 
Sproat, but to which the band, other than through some aboriginal rights type claim 
had no legal claim.'" 

The difficulty we have with Canada's argument is that it is based on the 
premise that a band has an "interest" only after a reserve has been created. 
This is inconsistent with Mr. Justice Dickson's statement in Guerin that the 
Indians' interest in their lands "is a pre-existing legal right" and that this 
interest is the same whether one is concerned with the interest of a band in a 
reserve or with unrecognized aboriginal title in traditional tribal lands. In 
other words, as we understand Mr. Justice Dickson's reasons, there is an 
independent legal interest in the land even before the reserve is created. Any 
obligation with respect to this interest is in the nature of a private law duty. 
We find, therefore, that it is possible for an enforceable fiduciary obligation 

139 ICC Transecipt, September 21, 1%5, pp. 12 j -27  
144 ICC Transcript, September 21, 199, p. 135. 
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to arise in the reserve creation process. The remaining question is whether 
Canada, in fact, had a fiduciary obligation in this case. 

Determining the Existence of a Fiduciary Obligation 
In coming to the conclusion that it did not have a fiduciary obligation in the 
circumstances of this case, Canada uses the following test: 

In order to have a Gduciaty relationship which may give rise to a fiduciary obligation, 
the following three elements must be present: 

(a) a statute, agreement or unilateral undertaking to act for, on behalf of o r  in the 
interests of another person; 

(b) power or discretion can be exercised unilaterally to affect that person's legal o r  
practical interests; and 

(c) reliance or dependence by that person on the statute, agreement or undertaking 
and vulnerability to the exercise of power or discretion.I4' 

Canada cites the cases of Guerin v. R. and Frame v. Smith (approved by 
Hodgkinson v. Simms) in support of its test.142 

With respect to the term "undertaking," Canada elaborates as follows: 

In Hodgkinson u. Simms, la Forest, J .  gives some indication of when an undertaking 
may give rise to a fiduciary obligation. He states at 629 and 632: 

In these cases, the question to ask is whether, given all the surrounding circum- 
stances, one party could reasonably have expected that the other party would act 
in the former's best interests with respect to the subject matter at issue. Discre- 
tion, inlluence, vulnerability and trust were mentioned as non-exhaustive examples 
of evidential factors to be considered in making this determination. 

Thus, outside the established categories, what is required is evidence of a 
mutual u n d m d w  that one partv has relmauished its own self-interest and 
g m d  to act solely on behalf of the other partv.. . . 

In summary, the precise legal or equitable duties the law will enforce in any 
given relationship are tailored to the legal or practical incidents of a particular 
relationship. To repeat a phrase used by Lord Scarman, "There is no . . 

the law for a '- 
. . 

": see ~Valional 
Westminster Bankplc v. Morgan, [I9851 1 All E.R. 821 (H.L.) .  at p. 831.14' 

141 Submisrmns an Behalf of the Government a1 Canada. September 11. 1995, p. 31. 
142 Cuerin c. R. (1984), 13 DLR (4th) 321 at 341 (SCCj; Flame t- Smtlh (1987). 42 DLR (4th) 81 at 99 (SCC) 

(approved Hodgkinson u. Simrnr, (19941 9 WR 609 (SCC), per La Forest J. at 628. md per Sopinka and 
Mckchlin JJ. at 666). 

143 Submissions on Behalf01 the Government a1 Cmada, September 11. 1995, p. 32. Underlining added bv Canada. 
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Canada concludes that "the existence of an undertaking by the Crown giving 
rise to fiduciary duties is determined on the basis of the mutual under- 
standing of both the Crown and the Indians that Canada has relinquished its 
own self-interest and agreed to act solely on behalf of the Indians."144 

In our view, Canada's test confuses the case law. The basic structure for 
Canada's test comes from the decision of Madam Justice Wilson in Frame v. 
Smith.L45 She proposed the following three-part analysis for the identification 
of relationships that presumptively give rise to fiduciary obligations: 

. . . there are common features discernible in the contexts in which fiduciary duties 
have been found to exist and these common features do provide a rough and ready 
guide to whether or not the imposition of a fiduciary obligation on a new relationship 
would be appropriate and consistent. 

Relationships in which a fiduciaty obligation have [sic] been imposed seem to 
posiss  three general characteristics: 

(1) The Educ iq  has scope for the exercise of some discretion or  power. 
(2) The fiduciaty can unilaterally exercise that power or discretion so as to affect the 

beneficiary's legal or practical interests. 
(3) The beneficiary is peculiarly vulnerable to or at the mercy of the fiduciary holding 

the discretion or power."" 

Unlike the first element in Canada's test, Madam Justice Wilson did not spec- 
ify that a "statute," "agreement," or "unilateral undertaking" must be present 
in order for the relationship to be one in which a fiduciary obligation will be 
imposed. 

We assume that Canada derived the first element of its test from the 
Guerin case, where Mr. Justice Dickson held as fouows: 

Professor Ernest Weinrib maintains in his article "The Fiduciary Obligation," 25 
U.T.L.J. 1 (1975), at p. 7, that "the hallmark of a fiducialy relation is that the relative 
legal positions are such that one party is at the mercy of the other's discretion." 
Earlier, at p. 4, he puts the point in the following way: 

[Where there is a fiduciary obligation] there is a relation in which the principal's 
interests can be affected by, and are therefore dependent on, the manner in which 

144 Subm~ssians on Behait of he Government of Canada. September 11. 1995, 0. 52. Emuhasir added by Canada. 
" ., 

I , ,  frdaa  r I t .I l r lH .lh, d l  a 98  91 $ 1 '  U l h , ~ ~ ~ l l  U I w l  J w o t ~  41. . J . \ ~ . , ( I ~  her I,,! J '  
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ulr. IAI.' Y c n c , r l  lrd I /?d/~~maltbnr. ( i ~ ~ n u  k r i ~ u n u r  11.1 19Xqs 61 DLK 11 (Cl' 0 r LA F ~ e d  . . ... 
j. at 29. and per Sopinka J. at 62-63; Hodgbinson 0. Simms, I1941 9 WR 669 (SCC); pe; Forest J. at 
628. and per Sopinka and Mcbchlin JJ i t  666. 
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the fiduciary uses the discretion which has been delegated to him. The fiduciary 
obligation is the law's blunt tool for the control of this discretion. 

I make no comment upon whether this description is broad enough to embrace 
all fiduciary obligations. 1 do agree, however, that where by statute, agreement, or 
perhaps by unilateral undertaking, one party has an obligation to act for the benefit of 
another, and that obligation carries with it a discretionary power, the party thus 
empowered becomes a Educialy. Equity will then supelvise the relationship by hold- 
ing him to the fiduciary's strict standard of conduct."' 

In essence, Canada substitutes part of the Gua'n analysis for the first 
characteristic in Madam Justice Wilson's "rough and ready guide," and then 
implies that this one amalgamated test must be satisfied for a fiduciary obli- 
gation to arise. We have difficulty with this approach for a number of rea- 
sons. First, the fact that Mr. Justice Dickson was careful to state in Guen'n 
that he was making "no comment upon whether this description is broad 
enough to embrace all fiduciary obligations" indicates tkdt he did not intend 
his remarks to form an exhaustive test. Second, Madam Justice Wilson did 
not include the criteria of "statute," "agreement," or  "unilateral undertaking" 
in the first element of her "rough and ready guide" even though Mr. Justice 
Dickson's decision in Guerin was available to her when she wrote her deci- 
sion in Frame v. Smith. We also note that in a more recent case, M. (K) v. 
M. (H.), Mr. Justice La Forest, after referring to Mr. Justice Dickson's reasons 
in Guerin, said that he "would go one step further, and suggest that fiduciary 
obligations are imposed in some situations even in the absence of any unilat- 
eral undertaking by the f i d ~ c i a t y . " ~ ~ ~  Therefore, in our opinion, the proper 
approach in the circumstances of this claim, is that set out in Frame v. 
Smith. In other words, the first element should be the "scope for the exer- 
cise of some discretion or  power," and not the existence of "a statute, agree- 
ment or unilateral undertaking to act for, on behalf of or in the interests of 
another person." 

We also have difficulty with Canada's use of Mr. Justice La Forest's com- 
ments in Hodgkinson v. Simms, in support of its statement that "the 
existence of an undertalung by the Crown giving rise to fiduciary duties is 
determined on the basis of the mutual understanding of both the Crown and 
the Indians that Canada has relinquished its own self-interest and agreed to 
act solely on behalf of the Indians." Mr. Justice La Forest's comments, in 

I47 Cumin v. R. (1984). 13 DLR (4th) 321 a1 340-41 (SCC) 
I48 M(K) L! M(H)  (1992). 14 CCLT (2d) I at 41 (SCC). 



context, were part of a discussion concerning two different uses of the term 
"fiduciary." He summarized the first use of the term, as follows: 

The first [use of the term fiduciary] is in describing certain relationships that have as 
their essence discretion, inhence over interests, and an inberent vulnembiity. In 
these types of relationships, there is a rebuttable presumption, arising out of the 
inherent purpose of the relationship, that one party has a duty to act in the best 
interests of the other party. Two obvious examples of this type of Oducialy relation- 
ship are tmstee-beneficiary and agent-principal. In seeking lo determine whether new 
classes of relationships are per se fiduciary, Wilson J.'s three-step .analysis [in Frame 
u. Smith] is a useful guide.'4g 

Mr. Justice La Forest then moved into a description of the second use of 
the term "fiduciary": 

As I noted in [Jnternational Corona Resources Ltd u. U C  Minerals Ltd, [ 19891 2 
SCK 5741,  however, the three-step analysis proposed by Wilson J. encounters difficul- 
ties in identifying relationships described by a slightly different use of the term "fidu- 
ciary," viz., SiNations in which fiducialy obligations, though not innate to a given 
relalionship, arise as a matter of fact out of the specific circumstances of that particu- 
lar relationship; see supra, at p. 648. In these cases, the question to ask is whether, 
given all the surrounding circumstances, one party could reasonably have expected 
that the other party would act in the former's best interests with respect to the subject 
maner at issue. Discretion, inhence, vulnerability and trust were mentioned as non- 
exhaustive examples of evidential factors to be considered in malung this 
determindtion. 

Thus, outside the established categories, what is required is evidence of a mutual 
understanding that one party has relinquished its own self-interest and agreed to act 
solely on behalf of the other party.150 

Contrary to Canada's suggestion, we do not see Mr. Justice La Forest's 
statement regarding a "mutual understanding that one party has relinquished 
its own self-interest. . ." as defining the circumstances in which an "under- 
taking" will give rise to a fiduciaq obligation in the context of a Guerin-type 
or Frame v. Smith-type analysis. Rather, this statement is an elaboration of 
the second use of the term "fiduciary." As we understand Mr. Justice La 
Forest's reasons, fiduciary obligations may arise where either the first use or 
the second use of the term is involved. Therefore, if the relationship falls 
within the Frame v. Smith analysis (in other words, it falls within the first 

(49 Hodgkinson r Simnrs, [ I 9 4 1  9 WR 609 at 629 (SCC). 
150 Hod~kinron r Simms, [I9941 9 WR 609 at 629 (SCC). 



use of the term), it is unnecessary to establish that there is a "mutual under- 
standing that one party has relinquished its own self-interest and agreed to 
act solely on behalf of the other party." 

Application of the Frame v. Smith Guide 
We turn, then, to an application of the Frame v. Smith "rough and ready 
guide." In our view, it is readily apparent that the three characteristics identi- 
fied by Madam Justice Wilson are satisfied in the circumstances of this claim. 
Assuming for the moment that the relevant Orders in Council did not create a 
mandatory obligation to refer "differences" between Mr. Sproat and the Chief 
Commissioner of Lands and Works to a Judge of the Supreme Court, they at 
least created a discretion or a power to do so. The exercise of this discretion 
had the capacity to affect the extent and locality of the lands to be held in 
trust for the use and benefit of the claimant and, thus, the claimant's legal 
and practical interests. 

We disagree with Canada that its discretion could not be exercised unilat- 
erally so as to affect the claimant's interests. As we see it, the issue in this 
case is not whether Canada had unilateral discretion to set apart reserves in 
British Columbia, but whether Canada had unilateral discretion to refer dis- 
putes to a Judge of the Supreme Court. Although a joint decision by both the 
federal and the provincial governments may have been required to create a 
reserve, a joint decision was not required to refer a matter to a Judge. 
Canada could unilaterally exercise its discretion in this regard; a referral did 
not depend on either the province's or the claimant's approval. 

Furthermore, Canada seems to have overlooked the fact that the process 
in question, a referral to a Judge of the Supreme Court, was approved by 
both levels of government. As such, there is a strong argument that whatever 
the decision of the Judge, both parties would have respected and considered 
themselves bound by it. Therefore, if the Judge had decided in favour of 
Commissioner Sproat's allotment, the reserve on Cormorant Island would 
have encompassed most of the island, since the province would have been 
obliged to implement the Judge's decision. 

Finally, there can be no doubt that the requisite vulnerability is present. 
The claimant, itself, did not have the power to refer a difference between 
Mr. Sproat and the Chief Commissioner of Lands and Works to a Judge of the 
Supreme Court. Under the process established by the Orders in Council, 
Canada's intervention was required. We might also point out that it was virtu- 
ally impossible for the claimant to pre-empt land under the provisions of the 



provincial Land Act in force at the time."' As a result, the claimant was 
powerless to set apart lands for its use and benefit without Canada's 
assistance. 

In sum, taking into account the factual circumstances of this case and the 
indicia of a fiduciary relationship set out in Frame v. Smith, we find that 
Canada had a fiduciary obligation to refer the rejection of Commissioner 
Sproat's allotment of Cormorant Island to a Judge of the Supreme Court. 

In the alternative, did Canada have an obligation pursuant to Article 13 of the 
T m  of Union, 1871, to refer the rejection of Commissioner Sproat's allot- 
ment of Cormorant Island to the Secretary of State for the Colonies? 

ht the oral hearing, Canada objected to the inclusion of the claimant's alter- 
native argument that Canada ought to have referred the rejection of Commis- 
sioner Sproat's allotment to the Secretary of State for the Colonies pursuant 
to the Terns of Union, 1871. Mr. Becker advised that this argument was not 
one of the claimant's original arguments and that he had become aware that 
i t  was being pursued only when he received the claimant's written 
submissions. 

Mr. Ashcroft clarified that the claimant's argument in relation to the 
Terms of Union, 1871, was an alternative or buttressing position and that, 
from the claimant's perspective, it was unnecessary to go beyond the fact that 
there was an outstanding lawful obligation to refer the matter to a Judge of 
the Supreme Court. 

It was agreed at the hearing that if the Commission felt it necessary to hear 
further on this issue, counsel for both parties would be given an opportunity 
to provide additional  submission^.'^^ However, given our findings in Issues 1 
and 2 that Canada had an obligation to refer the rejection of Commissioner 
Sproat's allotment to a Judge of the Supreme Court, we do not consider i t  
necessary to address whether an obligation also arose from Article 13 of the 
Term of Union, 1871. 

151 Seclions 3 and 24 of tl~clondAct, 1875, SBC 1873, No. 5, provided that the right to record unrurveged land or 
to pre~ernpt rumeyed land did not extend "to my of the Aborigines of this Continent, except to such ar shall 
have obtained permission in wiling . . . by a special order of the lieutenant-Governor in Council." 

l i r  ICC Transcript. September 21, 1 9 5 ,  pp. 60-65, 158 



INDIAN CLAliMS C O M M I S S I O N  P R O C E E D I N G S  

ISSUE 4 

If the answer to Issue 2 or 3 is yes, did Canada fulfil its obligation by asking 
Mr. Trutch to renew the matter and provide his opinion? 

Submissions of the Parties 
Although Canada maintains that it was not required to take any steps follow- 
ing the rejection of Commissioner Sproat's allotment, it submits that it 
nonetheless acted reasonably to investigate the "difference" behveen Commis- 
sioner Sproat and the Chief Commissioner of Lands and Works by obtaining 
an opinion from its confidential agent, Joseph Trutch. When attention was 
once again drawn to the situation on Cormorant Island two years later, 
Canada argues that it acted in a reasonable manner by agreeing that Commis- 
sioner O'Reilly should proceed to the Island to allot reserve lands for the 
claimant.153 

The claimant submits that the referral of the matter to Mr. Trutch did 
not fulfil Canada's duty to the claimant. Sending the matter to Mr. Trutch did 
not accord with the dispute-resolution mechanism already in place and, since 
Mr. Trutch was the Chief Commissioner of Lands and Works for the province 
at the time the lease was signed, he was not an appropriate person to make 
recommendations in this case.Is4 

Reasonableness of Canada's Actions 
The Order in Council appointing Commissioner Sproat delineates a specific 
dispute-resolution process - a referral to a Judge of the Supreme Court. Of 
significance here is the fact that the Order in Council does not provide a 
discretion as to the referee; it clearly states that the matter is to be referred 
to a Judge of the Supreme Court and not some other person chosen unilater- 
ally by Canada. As discussed above in Issue 1, this was the procedure to 
which both Canada and British Columbia agreed. 

It is interesting to note that an earlier version of the Provincial Secretary's 
letter of January 27, 1877, left some latitude for the selection of a referee 
other than a Judge. In a letter dated January 20, 1877, the Provincial Secre- 
tary wrote: 

I53 Submlirionr on Behlil of the Government of Canada, September 11, 1995. pp. 5. 39-41, 
154 Written Submissions on Behalf of the Namgis First Nation, formerly Known as the Nimplush Indian Band. 

September 7, 199j, pp. 22-24. 



' N A M X I S  - C O R M O R A N T  ISLAND C L A I M  I N Q U I R Y  R E P O R T  

ln the event of any d8erences existing between the Chief Commissioner of Iands and 
Works and the Superintendent of Indian Affain as to size or extent of Lands to be 
allotted to any lndian tribe the matter could be referred to one of the Judges of the 
Supreme Coun or otherpason agreed upon, whose decision should be hal.'55 

The Provincial Secretary's letter of January 27, 1877, omitted the words "or 
other person agreed upon."1i6 It was this letter of January 27, 1877, that 
formed the foundation for the provincial Order in Council of Janua~y 30, 
1877, and the federal Order in Council of February 23, 1877. Thus, we can 
surmise that the option of an alternative referee was considered and rejected. 

In light of the above considerations, it seems to us that Canada was 
obliged to follow the procedure set out in the Order in Council appointing 
Commissioner Sproat. As the claimant points out, Mr. Trutch did not have 
power to do anythmg other than offer his views on the situation to Sir John A. 
Macdonald."' 

The wisdom of referring the matter to Mr. Trutch is also worthy of exami- 
nation. Canada maintains that it was reasonable for it to ask Mr. Trutch to 
review the rejection of Commissioner Sproat's allotment since Mr. Trutch was 
very knowledgable in Indian matters and, therefore, was able to complete his 
review in an expedited manner, taking less than one week after he received 
the relevant d0cuments.l5~ We disagree with Canada's assessment. While Mr. 
Trutch, as confidential agent, may have been a logical choice for such a task 
in ordinary circumstances, in our view he was not a logical choice in these 
circumstances. At issue was the validity of the objections raised by the provin- 
cial government with respect to Commissioner Sproat's allotment on Cormo- 
rant Island. As discussed earlier in this report, the Chief Commissioner of 
Lands and Works opposed the allotment on two grounds: Erst, he had 
informed Mr. Sproat that the local government would not accept any Indian 
reservations made by Mr. Sproat on the northwest coast; and second, the 
whole island had been leased since August 3, 1870, to Mr. Huson and others. 
The lease to Mr. Huson was signed by Benjamin William Pearse, Assistant 
Surveyor General, "acting on behalf of the Government of British Columbia in 
the temporary absence of the Honorable Joseph W f i a m  Trutch the Chief 

155 C .  F.Uiott, Provincial Secretq,  to Minister of the Interior. Janualy 20, 1877 (ICC Documents, pp. 52-55). 
Emphasis added. 

I56 r\C. EUioo, Pro\mcial Secretan: lo Minister of the Lnrerior, Janualy 27. 1877. Nh, RG 10, vol. 3641, file 7567 
(KC file 2109-05-I). 

157 Wrrtten Submissions on Behalf of the Namgis First Nation, Formerly Known as the N i i p k h  Indim Band, 
September 7, 1995. p. 23. 

I58 Submissions on Behalf ot the Government oi Canada, September 11, 1995, p. 40. 



Commissioner of Lands and Works and Surveyor General."L59 Since Mr. 
Trutch was the Chief Commissioner of Lands and Works at the time the lease 
was signed, it was imprudent, in our opinion, for Canada to solicit his views 
on the second ground raised by the province. We recognize that Mr. Pearse, 
and not Mr. Tmtch, signed the lease. However, it is likely that the two men 
had a working, if not a reporting, relationship. Therefore, the ability of Mr. 
Trutch to evaluate the status of the lease objectively was at least questionable. 
A person with a more neutral mind might have been more disposed to chal- 
lenge the validity of the lease and to discover whether there were circum- 
stances under which the lease could be terminated. 

Mr. Tmtch's former position as Chief Commissioner of Lands and Works 
is particularly troublesome when one takes into account that his opinion 
hinged on the status of the lease as opposed to the other objection raised by 
the province. In other words, while we accept that Mr. Trutch was able to 
provide an impartial opinion on the province's first ground for rejecting the 
allotment on Cormorant Island, this first ground did not carry the day; he 
found it to be "of questionable vahdity." It was the province's second ground 
- the existence of a lease over the whole island - that Mr. Trutch found to be 
"clearly valid and insurmountable." 

There is evidence, however, that the province's second objection was not 
"insurmountable." There were a number of ways in which the lease could 
have been terminated. For instance, the lease itself provided a mechanism for 
its termination by virtne of the following clause: 

always and it is hereby agreed and declared that if at any time during the 
continuance of the tenancy hereby created it shall be considered desirable by the 
Government for the time being to resume possession of that portion of the heredita- 
ments and premises hereby demised already resetved and situate at the western end 
of the said Island and colored red on the said plan hereunto annexed o r  of any other 
portion of the said hereditaments and premises hereby demised or intended so to be 
The said Joseph W i a m  Tmtch or other the Chief Commissioner of lands and Works 
and Sutveyor General for the time being shall give to the said ,Alden Wesley tluson - 
Elijah Tomkins Huson - Uriah Nelson and Edmund Abraham Wadhams their execu- 
tors administrators or assigns two Calendar months notice of such intention in writing 
by either leaving such notice with them or by posting such notice on some conspicu- 
ous Dart of the oremises at the exoiration of which notice it shall be lawful for the 
said joseph Wiiaam Trutch as Chiei Commissioner of Lands and Works or other the 
Chief Commissioner of Lands and Work for the time being to enter upon and possess 

159 lease between B.W. Peame, hsiswnl Suneyor General, and A.W. Hwon el al., August 3. 1870 (ICC Documenls, 
pp. 20-27) 
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himself on behalf of the Crown of the land mentioned in such notice - that 
in every such case there shall be a proportionate deduction of the rent hereby 
reserved propottioned to the amount of land so entered upon and repossessed by the 
Chief Commissioner for the time being on behalf of the Crown as aforesaid . . .I" 

It is clear that Canada was aware of this clause in the lease. Mr. Trutch 
discussed it in his memorandum of May 5, 1882, and it was drawn to the 
attention of the Superintendent General of Indian Affairs in Februaly 1884 by 
both Commissioner O'Reilly and the Indian Superintendent, LW. It 
is true that Mr. Trutch gave very little weight to the clause. In his memoran- 
dum he stated: 

Power is indeed reserved to the Government of British Columbia in the Indenture of 
Lease to resume possession of the whole or any portion of the premises thereby 
demised, upon giving two (2) months notice to the Lessees. But the exercise of this 
right is entirely in the discretion of that Government, and was certainly not intended to 
be, and doubtless will not be taken advantage of except on grounds of the require- 
ments of the public interests, and upon payment of just compensation to the Lessee's; 
and it is evident from the letter of the Chief Commissioner of lands and Works now 
under consideration that such requirements are not held by the Government of British 
Columbia to exist, in connection with Mr. Sproat's unauthorized appropriation of Cor- 
morant Island as an lndian Re~ervation.'~' 

However, the Province's position, and Mr. Trutch's acceptance of it, is 
problematic. The allotment of reserves did involve "the requirements of the 
public interests." Mr. Trutch implied as much when he wrote to Sir John 
A. Macdonald in May 1880 regarding possible replacements for Commis- 
sioner Sproat: 

Either Mr. Bail or Mr. O'Reilly I consider particularly adapted From personal qualifi- 
cations, and long experience in administrative capacities in connection with Indians 
and Indian Affairs in this Province to discharge with advantage to thepublic interests 
the important and somewhat difficult duties of lndian Reserve Commis~ioner.'~' 

160 L e a e  between B.W. Pearse, hrriilant Sulveyor General, and A.W. Huson e l  al.. August 3, 1870 (ICC Documents, 
pp. 20-27). 

161 Memorandum of J.W. Trulch. Confidential Agenenr, blay 5, 1882 (ICC Documents, pp. 210.15); P. O'Reilly lo 
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The "public interest" nature of reserve creation was also recognized by the 
province in its Order in Council approving the establishment of the Joint 
Reserve Commission: ". . . regarding a final settlement of the land question 
as most urgent and most important to the peace and prosperity of the Prov- 
ince thcy [the Committee] are of opinion and advise that all the propos- 
als . . . should be accepted."lG 

As we see it, the lease was not, and should not have been seen to be, an 
"insurmountable" problem unless the province had some cogent reason for 
refusing to exercise its resumptive powers under the lease. It would have 
taken very little analysis on Canada's part to realize that the reasons provided 
by Mr. Trutch were less than compelling. 

Another clause in the lease prohibited assignments of the lease without the 
consent in writing of the Chief Commissioner of Lands and Works.L65 There is 
evidence that the lease was assigned at least twice. On February 6, 1882, 
U. Nelson and E.A. Wadhams notified the Chief Commissioner of Lands and 
Works that they had assigned and transferred their interests in the lease to 
A.W. H u ~ 0 n . I ~ ~  A.W. Huson, in turn, transferred the lease to T. Earle and 
S. Spencer in January 1884.t67 

Canada submits that there is no evidence that the assignments of the lease 
would have been known to the Department of Indian Affairs or  that the con- 
sent of the Chief Commissioner of Lands and Works was not obtained.L68 We 
disagree. On February 27, 1884, Indian Superintendent Powell wrote to the 
Superintendent General of Indian Affairs as follows: 

Upon inquiry at the land office it would appear that Mr. Huson has transferred his 
right to the lease to Mr. Spencer but so far as the Sutveyor General is aware no 
official sanction has as yet been given by Mr. Smithe [the Chief Commissioner of 
lands and Work.] to the conveyance.'@ 

Thus, at least with respect to the second assignment, there is clear evidence 
that the Department of Indian Affairs knew that the assignment had taken 

164 Provincial Order in Counccl 1138, Januav 6. 1876 (ICC Documents, pp 50.51). 
I65 LPae between B.W. Pearre, hssislant S u w e p r  General, and A.W. Huron el d . ,  August 3, 1870 (ICC Documens, 

pp. 20-27). 
166 Uriah Nelson and E A  Wadhams to the Chiel Commissioner of Lands and Works, Februv 6. 1882 (LCC Docu- 

ments. p. 202) 
167 Date is laken irom A,]. Hall to WiUiam Smilhe, Chef Cwnmirrioner of Lands and Works, March 27, 1884 (ICC 

Documenb, pp. 228-31). 
164 Submlssians an Behdf oi the Government of Canada. September 11, 1995, p j6 
169 I.W. Powell, Indialan Superintendent, lo Superintendent General oi indim Ahin, Februtq 27, 1884 (ICC Docu- 

ments, p. 224) 
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place and that written consent had not been obtained from the Chief Commis- 
sioner of Lands and Works as of February 27, 1884. 

But, argues Canada, even if the consent of the Chief Commissioner was not 
obtained for the assignment of the lease, the province was "estopped (in 
other words, precluded) from claiming that the lease was invalid since it 
continued to treat the lease as valid after it was aware of the assignment to 
Mr. Spencer: "It would be inequitable for the Province to claim that the lease 
was invalid on grounds which it was aware of and which it consented to by 
reason of continuing to treat the lease as valid. The assignees of the lease 
relied on the Province continuing to treat the lease as valid."'70 Further, 
argues Canada, even if the province was not estopped from claiming that the 
lease was invalid, the lessee's failure to obtain the Chief Commissioner's con- 
sent rendered the lease at most voidable and not void. In other words, the 
province had the discretion to elect how to treat the lessee's assignment of 
the lease. Although the province could have treated the assignment of the 
lease as void, instead it chose to continue to treat the lease as valid. 

We find Canada's argument unconvincing. Canada learned of the assign- 
ment to Mr. Spencer within weeks of its occurring. If Canada had taken 
immediate action (such as referring the matter to a Judge of the Supreme 
Court), we doubt whether Mr. Spencer would have yet "relied" to such an 
extent that it would have been inequitable for the province to claim that the 
lease was invalid. 

In addition, in our view the question is not so much whether the province 
did continue to treat the lease as valid, but rather whether it had to continue 
treating the lease as valid. The point here is that the province used the lease 
as its excuse for disallowing Mr. Sproat's allotment. This was not a legitimate 
excuse if it was within the province's means to terminate the lease. In other 
words, unless the province was obligated to continue treating the lease as 
valid, it was unreasonable for it to rely on the existence of the lease to disal- 
low the allotment on Cormorant Island. 

The claimant attacked the validity of the lease on a number of other 
grounds. In particular, the claimant argued that: 

The lands purportedly leased by Messrs. Huson, Wilson, and Wadhams 
were presumably for pastoral purposes pursuant to the Land Ordinance of 
B.C., yet they were not used for those purposes. Mr. A.W. Huson apparently 
ultimately built a cannery. The Land Ordinance also permitted the lands to 

I70 Submissions on Behalf of [he Governmenl of Canada, September 11, 1995, p. 56. 



become "reserve" with merely a proportionate decrease in rent. In addi- 
tion, the lands that were purportedly leased were clearly an Indian settle- 
ment and thus exempted from pre-emption or lease. 

- The lease became void as a result of the lessee's failure to pay rent. 

The lease was vague and inconsistent as to the area of the land which was 
encompassed by it (the whole of Cormorant Island or only 600 acres).171 

We do not find it necessary to review these arguments here. After analysis 
and reflection, we have come to the view that the two terms of the lease and 
the circumstances discussed above gave Canada ample warning that Mr. 
Trutch's opinion was open to challenge. In addition, Canada was not Limited 
to Mr. Trutch's opinion. As mentioned in Issue 1, Canada's own public ser- 
vants, Indian Agent Blenkinsop and Indian Superintendent Powell, suggested 
that there were difficulties with the province's position in regard to the Cor- 
morant Island allotment. Even Commissioner O'ReiUy informed the Superin- 
tendent General of Indian Affairs that a portion of the land at issue was "the 
site of a large Indian village, and as sucti should never have been included in 
the lease granted to Mr. Hu~on ."~~ '  We find, therefore, that Canada, armed 
with all this information, did not fulfil its fiduciary obligation simply by 
obtaining the opinion of Mr. Tmtch. Canada ought to have referred the mat- 
ter to a Judge of the Supreme Court as it  was entitled to and obligated to 
pursuant to the Order in Council appointing Commissioner Sproat. By failing 
to do so, Canada breached its fiduciary obligation to the claimant. 

ISSUE 5 

If the rejection of Commissioner Sproat's allotment of Cormorant Island had 
been referred to a Judge of the British Columbia Supreme Court, would Com- 
missioner Sproat's ,allotment have been upheld? 

Submissions of the Parties 
Canada asserts that even if the steps it took to deal with the "difference" 
between Commissioner Sproat and the Chief Commissioner of Lands and 
Works were not reasonable, there is no evidence that the decision of a Judge 
of the Supreme Court would have differed from the lands eventually allotted 

111 Written Submissions on Behalf of the Namgis Fin1 Nation, Formerly Know as the Nlnlpkish Indi3n Band. 
Sepember 7, 1 9 5 ,  p. 24. 
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to the claimant by Commissioner O'ReiUy. On this point, Canada notes that 
before becoming Indian Reserve Commissioner, Mr. O'ReiUy had been a sti- 
pendiary magistrate and later a county court judge.173 

The claimant submits that the overwhelming weight of the evidence would 
have militated against the position of the Chief Commissioner of Lands and 
Works and in favour of Commissioner Sproat's allotment. Therefore, if 
Canada had referred the matter to a Judge of the Supreme Court, the claim- 
ant would have received approximately 1250 acres of Cormorant Island as a 
reserve or, at the very least, much larger portions than the 52 acres it was 
allotted by Commissioner O'Reilly.174 

Outcome of a Referral to a Judge 
We are unpersuaded by Canada's suggestion that a Judge would have come to 
the same conclusion as Commissioner O'Reilly. Even though Commissioner 
O'ReiUy had been a county court judge, he was not acting in that capacity 
when he made his allotments on Cormorant Island. We assume that the pur- 
pose of choosing a Judge of the Supreme Court as referee was to obtain the 
decision of an impartial third party free from political influence. In his role 
as Indian Reserve Commissioner, Commissioner O'Reilly was not free from 
political influence. 

The truth of the matter is that we cannot know with certainty what a Judge 
would have done if Canada had followed the dispute resolution process set 
out in the various Orders in Council anymore than we can know with cer- 
tainty what a Judge will do in modern-day litigation. Untid a case is heard and 
judgment rendered, the result is in question. We make no attempt to deter- 
mine what the outcome of a referral to a Judge would have been. In the 
circumstances of this claim Canada's duty was to refer the matter to a Judge, 
not to second guess the outcome of such a referral. 

However, we do wish to comment briefly on some of the submissions 
made by the parties. In addition to the arguments mentioned above regarding 
the validity of the lease and the grounds for its termination, the claimant 
alleges that the following facts would have been before the Judge: 

The province had agreed that it would interfere with Mr. Sproat's allotment 
only "in extreme cases." No evidence had been put forth by the province 
that this was an "extreme case." 

173 Submissions on Behd ill he Government of Canada. September 11, 1995, p. 41. 
174 Written Submissions on Behalt of the Namgis Fin1 Nation. Formerly Known as the Nimplush Indian Band. 

September 7. 1995, pp. 23-24. 
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Both levels of government had agreed to Mr. Sproat acting as sole Reserve 
Commissioner. While the Chief Commissioner of Lands and Works pro- 
tested Mr. Sproat visiting and allotting reserves on the northwest coast of 
British Columbia, this was, as even Mr. Trutch noted, "of questionable 
validity" and an "expression of opinion." 

The federal and provincial govenunents had agreed to share the costs of 
the "Referee"; as such, only half of the economic burden would fall on the 
federal government. 

Cormorant Island had been a traditional village of the Band and had been 
reduced in size only because of the decimation caused by the smallpox 
epidemic of 1837-38. 

The population of the Band was expanding and they needed additional land 
as a result. This need was exacerbated by its dependence on the fishery. 
The land ultimately allotted to the Band was insufficient for its purposes. 

Mr. Sproat had taken into account the fact of the lease and had negotiated 
with Mr. Huson and Reverend Hall. Both Mr. Huson and Reverend Hall had 
agreed to Mr. Sproat's allotment premised upon their obtaining the Crown 
grants of the 160 acres that they each sought. In fact, Mr. Sproat's allot- 
ment was based upon what Mr. Huson suggested.I7j 

Although we do not propose to analyze the validity of each and every point 
in detail, we find the following arguments persuasive and supported by the 
evidence: 

First, as explained above, it was within the province's power to terminate 
the lease. Second, there was evidence from various sources that a large 
Indian village existed on the leased land and that Alert Bay was the traditional 
home of a large Indian p~pula t ion . '~~ Canada admits that it is likely that a 
winter village existed on the island at the time the lease was signed. It argues, 
however, that the claimant has not shown that its winter village extended 

- - -  
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beyond the areas which were d o n e d  by Commissioner O'ReiUy and which 
today form the reserves on the i~1and. I~~ We do, however, have the evidence 
of the elders in this inquiq that the whole of Cormorant Island was used, not 
only for food- and wood-gathering but also for burials. Presumably similar 
evidence would have been available to Canada in the 1880s on proper 
investigations. 

Third, there was evidence from both Indian Agent Blenkinsop and Rever- 
end Hall that the lessee, Mr. Huson, had consented to the allotment proposed 
by Commissioner Sproat. Indian Agent Blenkinsop stated as follows: "The 
action of Mr. Sproat in 1880 was entirely brought about by Mr. Huson the 
then lessee, as he preferred having definite claims for himself, the Mission, 
and the Indians, and surrendered his lease to accomplish these objects."178 
This interpretation of events was supported by Reverend Hall: 

In 1880 the Church Miss" Society proposed establishing a Mission for the Indians on 
Cormorant Island with the consent and invitation of AW Huson then the lessee of the 
island. At this time Mr G Sproat was laying off Indi.dn reserves in our neighhourhood 
and 1 infonned him of my desire to commence a mission on the island. Mr Huson 
proposed to Mr Gilbert Sproat that the Govetnment should cancel his lease, give him 
a free grant of 160 acres and make the halance an Indian Reserve. In Mr Gill Sproat's 
map of the island two sections of 160 acres each were marked off as land to be 
applied for by AW Huson & AJ Hall."Y 

Therefore, far from interfering with the claims of the white settlers on Cor- 
morant Island, Commissioner Sproat's allotment specifically took their inter- 
ests into account. Canada argues, however, that Commissioner Sproat did not 
have the authority to bind the province to give a Crown grant to Mr. H ~ s o n . l ~ ~  
We acknowledge that Commissioner Sproat could not compel the province to 
give Mr. Huson a Crown grant. However, by entering into the reserve com- 
mission process, the province had expressed its willingness to resolve the 
Indian land question. Commissioner Sproat devised a solution which could 
have been implemented by the province and which would have satisfied the 
white settlers on Cormorant Island. The province did not offer any valid rea- 
son for its refusal to issue the Crown grant. 

t i 7  Submisrionr on Behaif of the Government of Canada, September 11. 1 9 5 ,  pp. 58-59, 
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Although, strictly speaking, it was unnecessary for the establishment of a 
valid specific claim, we find that the claimant has provided sufficient evidence 
to show that Canada could have presented a strong case to a Judge of the 
Supreme Court. As such, if Canada had fulfilled its obligation to the claimant, 
there is every reason to believe that Canada might have succeeded in having 
Commissioner Sproat's allotment upheld, or at least in obtaining a larger 
portion of land than 48.12 acres. 

ISSUE 6 

Was Canada negligent in not referring the rejection of Commissioner Sproat's 
allotment of Cormorant Island to a Judge of the British Columbia Supreme 
Coua or to the Secretary of State for the Colonies? 

As an additional argument, the claimant submits that Canada was negligent. 
More specifically, the claimant argues that 

(a) Commissioner Sproat's allotment of most of Cormorant Island was an 
operational decision rather than a policy decision, and is therefore sub- 
ject to a claim in tort; 

(b) Canada owed a duty of care to the claimant; 

(c) there are no considerations that might negate or limit the scope of the 
duty or the class of persons to whom it was owed; and 

(d) Canada's failure to refer the rejection of Commissioner Sproat's allot- 
ment to a Judge of the Supreme Court or to the Secretary of State for the 
Colonies directly caused the claimant the loss of most of its settlement 
on Cormorant Island.lnl 

Given our conclusions in Issues 1 and 2 above that Canada had either a 
mandatory or a fiduciary obligation to refer the matter to a Judge of the 
Supreme Court, we do not find it necessary to explore the claimant's added 
allegation of negligence. 

181 Written Submissions on Behali of the Namgis First Nation, Formerly Known ar the Nunplash Indian Band, 
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ISSUE 7 
Does this claim fall within the scope of the Specific Claims Policy? 

Submissions of the Parties 
Canada contends that this claim does not relate to obligations of the federal 
government undertaken under treaty, requirements spelled out in legislation, 
or responsibilities regarding the management of Indian assets and, therefore, 
does not fall within the subject matter of a specific claim as set out in the 
Specific Claims In particular, Canada argues that this claim does not 
relate to any of the four circumstances enumerated on page 20 of Outstand- 
ing Business.la3 For convenience, we repeat the relevant passage here: 

The government's policy on speci6c claims is that it will recognize claims by Indian 
bands which disclose an outstanding "lawful obligation," i.e., an obligation derived 
from the law on the part of the federal government. 

A lawful obligation may arise in any of the following circumstances: 

i) The non-ful6Ument of a treaty or agreement behveen Indians and the Crown. 
ii) A breach of an obligation arising out of the Indian Act or other statutes per- 

kining to Indians and the regulations thereunder. 
iii) A breach of an obligation arising out of government administration of Indian 

funds or other assets. 
iv) An illegal disposition of Indian land.lg4 

First, Canada submits that there is no treaty or agreement between Canada 
and the claimant First Nation. Second, the Orders in Council which set out 
the process to allot reserves for Indian bands in British Columbia and under 
which Commissioner Sproat operated are not a statute; rather, they are an 
exercise of the Royal Prerogative. Finally, the third and fourth circumstances 
do not apply: "As the Band's claim relates to lands which were not set apart 
as reserve for the Band, they are not an Indian asset under the policy nor are 
they Indian lands."185 

Canada adds that, if the claimant is alleging that those portions of Cormo- 
rant Island allotted by Commissioner Sproat but not subsequently allotted by 
Commissioner O'Reilly are nonetheless Indian assets or Indian lands owing 
to the traditional use of the lands by the claimant, the appropriate manner to 
deal with the claim is through the British Columbia Treaty Commission pro- 

182 Submissions on Behall of the Government of Canada. September 11, 1995, p ??. Canada's submission echoes 
the opening wards of the Foreword on p. 3 of Oulslonding Business. 
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c e ~ s . l ~ ~  Ms. Schipizky, counsel for Canada, noted in her oral submissions that 
the Specific Claims Policy specifically excludes claims based on unex- 
tinguished aboriginal title.187 

The claimant submits that its claim relates to all four of the circumstances 
enumerated on page 20 of Outstanding Business. First, Commissioner 
Sproat, in making his allotment, reached an agreement that was an accom- 
modation among the claimant, Mr. Huson, and Reverend Hall. The claimant 
asserts that Mr. Sproat, as the authorized representative of Canada, entered 
into the agreement with the implicit if not the express consent of Canada. 
Canada was therefore bound to do everything in its power to ensure that the 
agreement was effected. Second, the claimant submits that the claim relates 
to the breach of an obligation arising out of "other statutes pertaining to 
Indians and the regulations thereunder": 

The Federal Crown breached an obligation to protect the lands occupied by the Band 
from pre-emption or lease pursuant to the Land Ordinance, 1865 and Section 
91(24) of the Constitution Act, 1867. Although the Specitlc Claims policy only men- 
tions the "Indian Act or other statutes pertaining to Indians and the regulations 
thereunder," it is submitted that this should be broad enough to cover Orders in 
Council relating to Indians. For example, the Order in Council whereby Mr. Sproat 
was appointed and the referral to a Judge of the Supreme Court was ~uentioned amse 
out of the effective appointment of Commissioner Sproat pursuant to the Federal 
Enquiries Act under which the prior Joint Reserve Commission had been appointed. 
Similarly, Micle 13 of the Terms of Union, which is part of the Order of Her Majesty 
in Council admitting British Columbia into the Union, arose out of the provisions of 
the British North America Act, 1867, now the Constitution Act, 1867. Thus, when 
viewed as a whole, the Orders in Council putting into force the statutory provisions 
must be looked to and, it is submiaed, clearly show an obligation to act in the best 
interests of the Band, which said obligation was breached in this instance.'" 

Third, the claimant argues that upon Commissioner Sproat's allotment, the 
lands to be reserved became an asset of the claimant, most of which was lost 
when the reserve area was reduced from approximately 1250 acres to 
approximately 52 acres. Fourth, the claimant maintains that there was an 
"illegal disposition of Indian land." The claimant points out that the "lawful 
obligation" section of the Specific Claims Policy refers to "Indian laud," 
whereas the next portion of the Policy, "beyond lawful obligation," refers to 

186 Submirr~ns on B e h d  a1 the Government of Canada, September 11. 1995, p 23. 



"reserve lands." As such, the claimant submits, the lands in question did not 
formally have to be reserve lands in order for there to be an obligation. The 
claimant argues that the lands in this case were Indian lands, in that they 
were used and occupied by the claimant.189 

Scope of "Lawful Obligation" 
As we have indicated in past reports,lW it is our position that the four enu- 
merated circumstances on page 20 of Outstanding Business are only 
examples of Canada's lawful obligations and are not intended to be exhaus- 
tive. We feel fortified in this opinion by the principles of interpretation enun- 
ciated by the Supreme Court of Canada in National Bank of Greece 
(Canah] v. Katsikonouri~.~9~ Mr. Justice La Forest, speaking for a majority 
of the Court, stated as follows: 

Whatever the particular document one is construing, when one fmds a clause that sets 
out a list of specific words followed by a general term, it will normally be appropriate 
to limit the general term to the genus of the narrow enumeration that precedes it. But 
it would be illogical to proceed in the same manner when a general term precedes an 
enumeration of specific examples. In this sirnation, it is logical to infer that the pur- 
pose of providing specific examples from within a broad general category is to 
remove any ambiguity as to whether those examples are in fact included in the cate- 
gory. It would defeat the intention of the person drafting the document it one were to 
view the specific illustrations as an exhaustive definition of the larger category of 
which they form a part.'9' 

Here, of course, a general term (lawful obligation) precedes an enumera- 
tion of specific examples (the four enumerated circumstances). Therefore, 
following the reasoning of Mr. Justice La Forest, it is logical to infer that the 
purpose of providing the four specific examples was to remove any ambiguity 
as to whether those examples were included in the category of "lawful 
obligation." 

It is not surprising that fiduciary obligations were not specifically listed as 
lawful obligations in the Specific Claims Policy. The Policy was, after all, writ- 
ten two years before the Supreme Court of Canada's decision in Guerin - the 

189 Writlen Submirsioni on Behalf o I  the Nvngis Firs1 Nation. Formerly Know as the Ninplilsh hdian Band. 
September 7, 1995, pp. 34-35. 
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watershed case in terms of the Crown's fiduciary relationship to aboriginal 
peoples. What we do find surprising, however, is Canada's continued resis- 
tance to include such obligations within the ambit of the Policy in light of the 
Policy's underlying purpose. Our understanding is that the Policy was 
intended to provide for the settlement of legitimate, long-standing grievances, 
such as the matters at issue in this claim. Thus we find that this claim falls 
within the scope of the Specific Claims Policy. 

Status of the Orders in Council 
In any event, in our view, this claim falls within the circumstances enumer- 
ated on p. 20 of Outstanding Business. 

We accept that Canada may be correct in its assertion that the Orders in 
Council under which Commissioner Sproat operated arose from an exercise 
of the Royal Prerogative. We certainly have found no clear indication in the 
Orders in Council that the effective appointment of Commissioner Sproat was 
"pursuant to the Federal Enquiries Act" as contended by the claimant. Even 
so, we agree with the claimant that the second circumstance enumerated 
under the Policy - "[a] breach of an obligation arising out of the Indian Act 
or other statutes pertaining to Indians and the regulations thereunder" - 
should be broad enough to cover the Orders in Council at issue in this claim. 

Orders in Council have, at times, been equated with statutes. In their text, 
Administrative Law: A Treatise, R. Dussault and I. Borgeat write as follows: 

The purely conventional character of the Cabiiet at the constitutional level does not 
mean that it can escape the obligation, in fulfilling the role of Governor General in 
Council or Lieutenant-Governor in Council, of resorting to the signature of the 
Queen's representative in order to validate certain acts of a legislative nature. These 
acts, once initialled, bear the name Orders-in-Covncil, They are generally published 
in the Gazette (in Quebec or at the federal level) and are granted the same status 
as statute law before the courts. Although the Order-in-Council is usually adopted 
pursuant to a statute which provides expressly for it, it may occur that the Cabinet, on 
its own authority, makes a decision by Order-in-Council without any resort to an 
enabling statute, pursuant to "the theory of its general powers" [TI.]. . . .'Y' 

We note as well that in a previous inquiry before this Commission, Canada 
itself blurred the line between Orders in Council and "legislation." In our 
inquiry into the claim of the Homalco Indian Band, we examined the Order 

I93 R. Dussault and 1. Bargeal, Adminislrali'e law: A Treatire, Zd ed. (Toronto: Carhwell, IOSj), 1: 61 Bold 
emphaslr added. 
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in Council appointing Commissioner O'Reilly which is of the same general 
type as the Orders in Council now under consideration in this inquicy.19* In 
its written submissions for the Homalco Inquiq, Canada referred to Commis- 
sioner O'Reilly's Order in Council as "the legislation empowering O'Reilly."lg5 
Thus, at least for the purposes of the specific claims process, the Merence 
between "legislation" (which normally includes statutes and regulations) and 
the Orders in Council empowering Sproat and O'Reilly is extremely slight. 

We simply cannot countenance Canada's attempt to use the subtle distinc- 
tion between a statute and a prerogative Order in Council to reject an 
otherwise valid claim. Therefore, in our opinion, the second circumstance 
enumerated under "Lawful Obligation" on page 20 of Outstanding Business 
must be interpreted to include obligations arising out of Orders in Council of 
the type at issue here. As found in Issue 1, Canada had a mandatocy obliga- 
tion pursuant to the Order in Council appointing Commissioner Sproat to 
refer the rejection of Sproat's allotment to a Judge of the Supreme Court. 
Accordingly, Canada's failure to follow this procedure was a "breach of an 
obligation arising out of the Indian Act or other statutes pertaining to Indi- 
ans." At the very least, it was the omission of a requirement "spelled out in 
legislation," to use the words of the former Minister of Indian Affairs and 
Northern Development in the "Forward of Outstanding Business.196 

Interpretation of the Policy 
In his oral submissions, Mr. Ashcroft spoke of the frustrations engendered by 
a technical, narrow reading of the Specific Claims Policy: 

Now, I should say at this stage that I Gnd it disturbing that the federal government 
would seem to be trying to hide behind what it says are speciGc policies or specific 
criteria in the specific claims policy. It seems to me that a lawful obligation means . . 
just that. 

If, in a court or something similar, it could be found that the Crown breached a 
lawful obligdtion, breached a fiducialy duty, was negligent, or whdtever, cowards a11 
Lndian band, then they should be liable. They shouldn't say, oh, well, we're only going 
to be held liable for this specitlc type of specific policy. I mean, if they want to be that 
restrictive, it's a complete farce.'Y7 

19" Cornmisstoner O'ReUg's Order in Council is included in lhe documenlr for this inquiq: Federal Order in 
Council, No. 1334. July 19, 1880 (ICC Documenlr. pp. 179-85). 
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We are in essential agreement with Mr. Ashcroft's position. In our view, any 
technical, narrow interpretation of the Policy which would hinder the resolu- 
tion of long-standing disputes should be avoided if other interpretations giv- 
ing effect to the Policy's underlying purpose are equally plausible. Therefore, 
in our opinion, Canada's obligations under the Order in Council appointing 
Commissioner Sproat, and Canada's fiduciary obligations are "lawful obliga- 
tions" within the meaning of the Policy. 
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PART VI 

FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATION 

We have been asked to inquire into and report on whether the Government 
of Canada properly rejected the Cormorant Island claim submitted by the 
'Nmgis First Nation. In assessing the validity of this claim for negotiation 
under Canada's Specific Claims Policy, we have considered a number of spe- 
cific legal and factual issues. Our findings can be summarized as follows: 

Although the Order in Council appointing Commissioner Sproat (dominion 
Order in Council 170) states that any difference between the Commissioner 
of Lands and Works and Mr. Sproat is "to be referred to one of the Judges 
of the Supreme Court, it also makes direct reference to the Order in Coun- 
cil of February 23, 1877, which states that the matter "might be referred 
to one of the Judges of the Supreme Court. Therefore, it is likely that the 
words "might be referred" were incorporated into Order in Council 170. 
However, given the underlying objective of the reserve commission pro- 
cess - the speedy and final adiustment of the Indian reserve question in 
British Columbia - the word "might" in the Order in Council of February 
23, 1877, should be construed as mandatory. As there was clearly a "dif- 
ference" between Mr. Sproat and the Chief Commissioner of Lands and 
Works, and also between Canada and the Chief Commissioner of Lands and 
Works, with respect to the allotment on Cormorant Island, Canada there- 
fore had a mandatory obligation to refer the rejection of Commissioner 
Sproat's allotment to a Judge of the Supreme Court. 

Canada also had a fiduciary obligation to refer the rejection of Commis- 
sioner Sproat's allotment to a Judge of the Supreme Court. Canada had 
unilateral discretion to refer "differences" between Mr. Sproat and the 
Chief Commissioner of Lands and Works to a Judge of the Supreme Court. 
The exercise of this discretion had the capacity to affect the extent and 
locality of the lands to be held in trust for the use and benefit of the 



claimant and, thus, the claimant's legal and practical interests. Since the 
claimant could not, itself, refer disputes to a judge of the Supreme Court or 
otherwise set apart lands for its use and benefit, it was vulnerable to the 
exercise of Canada's discretion. 

Canada did not fulfil its obligation by asking Mr. Trutch to review the mat- 
ter and provide his opinion. The dispute-resolution process to which both 
Canada and British Columbia agreed was to refer "differences" between 
Mr. Sproat and the Chief Commissioner of Lands and Works to a Judge of 
the Supreme Court, and not to some other person chosen unilaterally by 
Canada. In any event, it was imprudent for Canada to ask Mr. Trutch to 
review the province's objection that a lease existed over the whole of Cor- 
morant Island because Mr. Trutcb had been the Chief Commissioner of 
Lands and Works at the time the lease was signed. Moreover, Canada had 
other evidence and opinions that there were difficulties with the province's 
rejection of Mr. Sproat's allotment and that, contrary to Mr. Trutch's opin- 
ion, the lease was not an insurmountable problem. Therefore, Canada 
ought to have referred the matter to a Judge of the Supreme Court. By 
failing to do so, Canada breached its fiduciary obligation to the claimant. 

The claimant has provided sufficient evidence to show that Canada could 
have presented a strong case to a Judge of the Supreme Court. As such, if 
Canada had fulfilled its obligation to the claimant, there is every reason to 
believe that Canada might have succeeded in having Commissioner Sproat's 
allotment upheld, or at least in obtaining a larger portion of land than 
48.12 acres. 

The four enumerated circumstances under "Lawful Obligation" on p. 20 of 
Outstanding Business are examples only and are not intended to be 
exhaustive. Other circumstances such as the breach of Canada's fiduciary 
obligation should be included in the general category of "lawful obliga- 
tion." In addition, the second circumstance enumerated under "Lawful 
Obligation" on p. 20 of Outstanding Business - "[a] bredch of an obliga- 
tion arising out of the Indian Act or other statutes pertaining to Indians 
and the regulations thereunder" - should be interpreted to include obliga- 
tions arising out of Orders in Council of the type at issue in this claim. 
Since Canada had a mandatory obligation pursuant to the Order in Council 
appointing Commissioner Sproat to refer the rejection of Sproat's allotment 
to a Judge of the Supreme Court, Canada's failure to follow that procedure 
was a breach of an obligation arising out of a statute pertaining to Indians. 
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We therefore make the following recommendation to the parties: 

That the claim of the 'Namgis First Nation with respect to Cormorant 
Island be accepted for negotiation under the Specific Claims Policy. 

FOR THE INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION 

P.E. James Prentice, QC Daniel J. Bellegarde Aurklien Gill 
Commission Co-Chair Commission Co-Chair Commissioner 
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APPENDIX A 

THE 'NAMGIS FIRST NATION CORMORANT ISLAND INQUIRY 

1 Decision to conduct inquiry March 2, 1995 

2 Notices sent to parties March 3, 1995 

3 Planning conference January 31, 1995 

4 Community session April 20 and 21, 1995 

The Commission heard from the following witnesses: Mary Hanuse, Ethel 
Alfred, Peggy Svanvik, George Cook, Bill Cranmer, Agnes Cranmer. The 
session was held at the U'mista Cultural Centre, Alert Bay, BC. 

5 Legal argument September 20 and 21, 1995 

6 Content of the formal record 

The formal record of this inquiry comprises the following: 

Documentary record (2 volumes of documents) 

6 Exhibits 

- Transcripts (3 volumes, including the transcript of legal submissions) 

The report of the Commission and letters of transmittal to the parties will 
complete the record of this inquiry. 




